
 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
Wednesday 25 June 2014 

7.00 pm 
160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH 

Membership Reserves 
Councillor Gavin Edwards (Chair) 
Councillor Rosie Shimell (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Jasmine Ali 
Councillor Anood Al-Samerai 
Councillor Catherine Dale 
Councillor Karl Eastham 
Councillor Tom Flynn 
Councillor Rebecca Lury 
Councillor Claire Maugham 
Councillor Adele Morris 
Councillor Johnson Situ 
 

Councillor Evelyn Akoto 
Councillor Maisie Anderson 
Councillor James Barber 
Councillor Dan Garfield 
Councillor Jon Hartley 
Councillor Hamish McCallum 
Councillor David Noakes 
Councillor Martin Seaton 
Councillor Bill Williams 
Councillor Kieron Williams 
 

Education representatives  
Reverend Nicholas Elder 
Lynette Murphy-O'Dwyer, Archdiocese of Southwark 
Abdul Raheem Musa, Parent Governor Representative 
 
 

INFORMATION FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 

Access to information 

You have the right to request to inspect copies of minutes and reports on this agenda as well as 
the background documents used in the preparation of these reports. 

Babysitting/Carers allowances 

If you are a resident of the borough and have paid someone to look after your children, an elderly 
dependant or a dependant with disabilities so that you could attend this meeting, you may claim an 
allowance from the council.  Please collect a claim form at the meeting. 

Access 

The council is committed to making its meetings accessible.  Further details on building access, 
translation, provision of signers etc for this meeting are on the council’s web site: 
www.southwark.gov.uk or please contact the person below. 

Contact Peter Roberts on 020 7525 4350 or email: peter.roberts@southwark.gov.uk  
 
 

Members of the committee are summoned to attend this meeting 
 
Eleanor Kelly 
Chief Executive 
Date: 17 June 2014 

 
 

Open Agenda



 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 

Wednesday 25 June 2014 - 7.00 pm 
 

Order of Business 
 

Item No. Title Page No. 
 

 PART A - OPEN BUSINESS 
 

 

1. APOLOGIES 
 

 

2. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR 
DEEMS URGENT 

 

 

 In special circumstances, an item of business may be added to an agenda 
within five clear working days of the meeting. 
 

 

3. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS 
 

 

 Members to declare any interests and dispensations in respect of any item 
of business to be considered at this meeting. 
 

 

4. MINUTES 
 

1 - 11 

 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the open section of the 
meetings held on 31 March and 6 May 2014. 
 

 

5. SCRUTINY ARRANGEMENTS FOR 2014/15 
 

12 - 14 

6. WORK PROGRAMME 2014/15 
 

15 - 64 

 Members to discuss items of business for the 2014/15 year 
 

Officer presentation on thirty year housing strategy including delivery of 
11,000 new council houses 
 

 

 DISCUSSION OF ANY OTHER OPEN ITEMS AS NOTIFIED AT THE 
START OF THE MEETING. 
 

 

 PART B - CLOSED BUSINESS 
 

 

 DISCUSSION OF ANY CLOSED ITEMS AS NOTIFIED AT THE START 
OF THE MEETING AND ACCEPTED BY THE CHAIR AS URGENT. 

 

 
Date: 17 June 2014  
 



1 
 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee - Monday 31 March 2014 
 

 
 
 
 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee held on Monday 31 March 2014 at 
7.00 pm at 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH  
 
 
PRESENT: Councillor Catherine Bowman (Chair) 

Councillor Gavin Edwards (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Neil Coyle 
Councillor Toby Eckersley 
Councillor Dan Garfield 
Councillor David Hubber 
Councillor Lorraine Lauder MBE 
Councillor Rebecca Lury 
Councillor Paul Noblet 
Councillor The Right Revd Emmanuel Oyewole 
Councillor Geoffrey Thornton 
 

OTHER MEMBERS 
PRESENT: 

Councillor Peter John, Leader of the Council 
 

  
ALSO PRESENT: Mr Mick Barnard, member of the public 
  
OFFICER 
SUPPORT: 

Shelley Burke, Head of Overview & Scrutiny 
Norman Coombe, Legal Services 
Stephen Douglass, Head of Community Engagement 
Graeme Gordon, Director of Corporate Strategy 
Duncan Whitfield, Strategic Director of FInance and 
Corporate Services 
Peter Roberts, Scrutiny Project Manager 
 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
 

 1.1       There were no apologies for absence. 
 

2. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR DEEMS URGENT  
 

 2.1       There were no urgent items of business. 

Open Agenda
1

Agenda Item 4



2 
 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee - Monday 31 March 2014 
 

 

3. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS  
 

 3.1       There were no disclosures of interests or dispensations. 
 

4. MINUTES  
 

             RESOLVED: 
  
            That the minutes of the meeting held on 18 February 2014 be agreed as a correct 

record. 
 

5. REPRESENTATION FROM MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC - MR M BARNARD  
 

 5.1      Mr Mick Barnard, a member of the public, had been given the opportunity to 
address the committee.  He claimed that Southwark officers had failed to adhere to 
the constitution and to the legal framework within which a local authority was 
required to operate.  He referred to various officers, including the chief executive, 
monitoring officer and a principal lawyer, and to individual members with whom he 
had raised his concerns.  Mr Barnard stated that he could provide a number of 
examples of such failures.  He had raised a series of complaints which he felt had 
not been adequately investigated or responded to.  He was not satisfied with the 
process undertaken by officers of the council. 

  
5.2      Members of the committee asked for details of complaints which Mr Barnard felt 

had not been properly dealt with.  Mr Barnard referred to an incident involving a 
former mayor.  He also referred to a feasibility study in respect of new changing 
rooms on Peckham Rye which he felt that officers had not taken account of.  He 
claimed that officers had not adhered to the legal framework and that neither the 
monitoring officer nor complaints officer had accepted that this was in their remit to 
investigate. 

  
5.3      The chair of the committee acknowledged that Mr Barnard had recently asked a 

public question at Council Assembly on a similar topic.  She asked him whether his 
key concern was about process and about the procedure to be followed if a 
complainant was not happy with a response received from the council.  Mr Barnard 
repeated his view that proper process was not being followed and that this needed 
to be investigated, perhaps using one of the cases he was aware of as an 
example.  He also stated that he had not been able to submit a six hundred 
signature petition to the committee.  The chair clarified that the committee was not 
able to look into individual complaints but could look at the complaints process 
more generally, for instance in terms of what happened when a complaint was not 
resolved. 

  
5.4      A member of the committee commented that, while it was important that the council 

give a hearing to concerns raised by the public, it also had a responsibility as to 
how public funds were used.  The member acknowledged that Mr Barnard had 
attended Council Assembly and was now attending this committee.  Mr Barnard 

2



3 
 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee - Monday 31 March 2014 
 

had also stated that his complaints had been going on over a number of years.  
The member was concerned as to how much these various processes had cost the 
authority.  Duncan Whitfield, Strategic Director of Finance and Corporate Services, 
stated that he could not provide the total cost of responding to Mr Barnard’s 
complaints but that, due to the level of senior management engagement, it would 
be significant and perhaps run into tens of thousands of pounds. 

  
5.5      Another member recognised that on occasion the public might receive a sub-

standard service from the council.  Part of the role of overview and scrutiny was to 
review particular service areas and to determine whether there were ways of 
improving them.  Mr Barnard responded that, over an eight year period, nothing 
had helped.  He said that he had submitted dozens of deputations and questions, 
most of which had been rejected.  He had submitted a complaint for which there 
was an established procedure but officers had denied having the responsibility to 
deal with it.  A member suggested that the facts as Mr Barnard saw them were 
being disputed by the officers who had investigated his complaints.  Perhaps Mr 
Barnard had not got what he wanted from the process, rather than there being a 
fundamental problem with the process itself or the process not being followed.  
Another member asked whether Mr Barnard had contacted the Local Government 
Ombudsman.  Mr Barnard explained that the Ombudsman only dealt with issues 
causing direct personal injustice to the complainant.  He was representing a local 
football team, in respect of the changing rooms, and other people, rather than 
himself and therefore the Ombudsman had not taken up his complaints. 

  
5.6      The chair reiterated that the committee was not part of the complaints procedure.  

Members took the view that in the new municipal year the incoming Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee could consider looking at how the council dealt with complex 
complaints and how these were addressed once the usual complaints process had 
been exhausted.  It could also look at comparable bodies to see whether more 
satisfactory outcomes were being achieved and whether there were any ways to 
improve Southwark’s procedures.  Some members were concerned that the issues 
raised by Mr Barnard were not sufficient to justify this. 

  
RESOLVED: 

  
           That officers be asked to bring a briefing to the incoming Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee detailing the process by which complicated complaints are dealt with, to 
include: 

  
-          how it is decided where a complaint goes 
-          how a complaint is escalated 
-          maintenance of any audit trail for complaints, decisions and costs 
-          whether there is any cap on compensation awards 
-          recent performance against the current procedure 
-          any comparative procedures and statistics 
-          decision making process in determining a vexatious complainant 

 

3



4 
 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee - Monday 31 March 2014 
 

 

6. CABINET MEMBER INTERVIEW: COUNCILLOR PETER JOHN, LEADER  
 

 6.1      The Leader of the Council, Councillor Peter John, attended the committee for his 
cabinet member interview.  As an introduction, the Leader referred to the vision for 
the borough which he had set out at the previous week’s meeting of Council 
Assembly. 

  
6.2      In terms of the council’s housing strategy, a member asked how better use could be 

made of empty privately-owned properties in the borough.  The Leader 
acknowledged that this was a concern but stressed that a change in legislation 
would be needed before the council could forcibly take action.  The council had 
tried to encourage landlords to house families needing urgent or temporary 
accommodation and steps had been taken to bring derelict properties back into 
use but the council had no powers to, for instance, tell landlords to let their 
properties to the local community.  The Leader welcomed any suggestions in this 
area. 

  
6.3      A member commented that the decision of Cabinet on 18 March in respect of the 

options available to leaseholders displaced from estates undergoing regeneration 
was a step forward.  He asked whether there was any scope for bringing forward 
the new options and for going further.  The Leader agreed that the options of 
shared ownership and shared equity would make a huge difference.  He 
commented that the council was able to reach agreement with the vast majority of 
leaseholders affected by regeneration projects.  He stressed the importance of 
sensitive negotiation, especially with older residents, and that it was absolutely 
crucial to ensure that there was an officer point of contact who fully understood the 
process and what was needed. 

  
6.4       Another member put this in the context of the regeneration of the Aylesbury 

estate.  There were still twenty-five to thirty years before the project was completed 
and it was important for the council to remain flexible in how it engaged with and 
supported tenants and leaseholders and to be prepared to change its policies.  The 
Leader agreed with this point of view and emphasised that the council had to be 
mindful that it was making decisions that effected how people lived over a long 
period of time, families and individuals who were often extremely vulnerable.  The 
Leader also pointed out the positive impact of regeneration on employment; in 
recent months over six hundred people had been brought into work on big 
regeneration projects, there hundred of whom had been unemployed. 

  
6.5      A member asked for the Leader’s view on contracting out services, particularly in 

view of the success of bringing revenues and benefits and the call centre back in-
house.  The Leader stated that services should be constantly reviewed in order to 
see whether or not they could be run more efficiently in-house.  At the same time 
he commented that facilities management was contracted out and was a well-run 
contract.  It would be difficult to bring IT back in-house.  The right solution needed 
to be found for each service. 

  
6.6      The chair of the committee expressed concern at the council’s procurement 

procedures and its capacity to manage big value contracts, especially big major 

4



5 
 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee - Monday 31 March 2014 
 

works contracts.  The Leader was confident that the council was improving all the 
time.  He referred to the Vangent contract.  The key performance indicators were 
wrong by 2010/11 but the contract did not allow for these to be changed.  There 
was always room for improvement in contract management, especially on a 
housing contract.  The Leader gave the Capita contract as an example of a 
contract which was being very robustly managed on a weekly basis by a board 
chaired by the chief executive. 

  
6.7      In response to questions, the Leader stated that the chief executive was due to 

review the spend of the local assistance fund.  The council would not continue to 
receive funding in this area.  In addition, universal credit had not been introduced 
at the expected rate.  It was important to review the impact of changes in benefits 
and the spend of the fund. 

  
6.8      Members were also concerned about the council’s void disposal strategy and how it 

impacted on different areas of the borough.  The Leader responded that to date 
only seven properties had been disposed of.  The council was selective and tended 
to dispose of properties needing a lot of investment.  Capital received was directed 
towards funding of the warm, dry, safe programme.  The Leader commented that, 
in view of rising property prices, it might be appropriate to review the current 
threshold of £300K.  Some members remained concerned that one part of the 
council might be disposing of four and five bed properties while another part was 
trying to house large families.  The Leader clarified that the process was much 
more discriminating.  He stressed that the bigger challenge to the housing stock 
was the government raising the cap on right-to-buy.  There were currently 1,026 
applications being processed. 

  
6.9      Members were interested to hear the Leader’s views on whether and how the 

borough’s housing issues could be resolved.  The Leader felt that, given current 
population projections, it was unlikely that enough properties could be built to solve 
the council’s waiting list.  Planning consent had been given to eleven thousand 
new homes over the last four years, including three thousand affordable homes.  A 
member asked whether the Leader was in favour of getting rid of right-to-buy or 
any changes in the powers of local authorities.  The Leader felt that the level of 
prescription by Westminster should be less across the whole of London.  He also 
felt that local authorities should be able to suspend right-to-buy if it put too much 
pressure on the housing stock but was doubtful whether any government would 
support this.  The Leader also hoped that a future government would invest in 
transport infrastructure into East London, opening up vast tracts of land for housing 
and other development. 

  
6.10    In response to questions about ongoing risks for the council, the Leader identified 

continuing threats to the budget.  The council was also arguing for the headroom in 
the Housing Revenue Account to be lifted as this would help local authorities to 
build housing.  A member asked whether, in the Leader’s opinion, there was a role 
for scrutiny in respect of the Health & Wellbeing Board.  The Leader reported that 
last week he had commissioned a governance review which would include 
consideration of the role of scrutiny in this area.  He drew attention to the 
Southwark and Lambeth Integrated Care programme which did important work but 
was currently outside the structure of governance and to the Clinical 
Commissioning Groups which worked to NHS England. 

5



6 
 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee - Monday 31 March 2014 
 

  
6.11    The chair of the committee asked for an update on possible sites for the John 

Donne secondary school.  The Leader expressed sympathy with parents at John 
Donne but stated that currently plans for a new secondary school were in 
abeyance in the area.  He commented that one of the problems was parents’ 
confidence in schools already in the area, especially the Harris Academy in 
Peckham.  The council needed to meet the aspiration of parents and ensure that 
places were available but a new school on a new site was not necessarily the 
solution. 

  
6.12    A member asked for more information about the Leader’s pledge to bring high 

speed broadband to Rotherhithe.  The Leader stated that the council needed to 
take the lead in procuring delivery.  He hoped that a solution would be achieved as 
soon as possible. 

 

7. DEPUTY CABINET MEMBER INTERVIEW: COUNCILLOR THE RIGHT REVEREND 
EMMANUEL OYEWOLE, FAITH COMMUNITIES  

 

 7.1      Councillor the Right Reverend Emmanuel Oyewole, Deputy Cabinet Member for 
Faith Communities, attended the committee.  He reported that for the past few 
years the council had been working with Roehampton University in research into 
black churches in Southwark.  As Deputy Cabinet Member he had been working 
with Councillor Vikki Mills, Cabinet Member for Communities & Economic 
Wellbeing, on how to take forward the recommendations from the research and 
how to improve relationships with faith communities.  He had also been working 
with an umbrella organisation of churches to co-ordinate the recommendations and 
to develop communication.  A member of staff had been allocated as a link person 
for churches and the council had reviewed and was promoting its guide for faith 
communities.  The Deputy Cabinet Member reported that recently only one 
planning application from a faith community had been unsuccessful.  He also 
reported on key activities during the year, including a festival at Burgess Park, 
Black History Month and meetings with the Multi-Faith Forum and the co-ordinator 
of the mosque. 

  
7.2      Members welcomed the council guide for faith communities and asked how its use 

was being monitored.  The Deputy Cabinet Member explained that it had been sent 
to four hundred faith groups in Southwark and was also available on the council’s 
website.  The link person in the community engagement section acted as a point of 
liaison.  Planning issues were monitored and the council talked to churches in 
order to mitigate any problems in this area.  Stephen Douglass, Head of 
Community Engagement, explained that the current guide had been completed in 
November, taking account of the views of faith organisations in the borough and of 
the Roehampton research.  The guide appeared to have helped in terms of 
planning issues as there were more successful applications and less potential 
enforcement actions.  The Deputy Cabinet Member added that landlords often did 
not inform churches as to what was possible within a lease and that the council 
was looking into this issue in order to achieve greater transparency about the use 
of properties. 

  
 

6



7 
 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee - Monday 31 March 2014 
 

7.3      In response to further questions, the Deputy Cabinet Member confirmed that the 
council’s liaison officer had been created within the community engagement 
section in response to the suggestion of faith groups themselves.  He felt that the 
post helped the council to gain a better understanding of faith communities and 
how to improve relationships.  A member stressed the amount of good work 
undertaken by faith groups in Southwark but asked how the council could respond 
if a new organisation was set up which was not motivated by genuine faith.  The 
Head of Community Engagement emphasised that it was not the role of the council 
to police faith communities but that a lot of work took place between the council, 
the police, the fire service and others and that concerns about particular 
organisations could be addressed amongst these agencies.  A great deal of the 
council’s work was to support faith groups in gaining a better understanding of 
what the council required in planning and other terms. 

  
 
7.4      Councillor Rebecca Lury, Chair, Health, Adult Social Care, Communities & 

Citizenship Scrutiny Sub-Committee, referred to a pilot programme to talk to faith 
congregations about mental health and the importance of early intervention.  The 
sub-committee had recommended that the council continue to part fund the 
programme.  The Deputy Cabinet Member agreed that this was important and 
stated that he was discussing with officers how it could be continued.  The chair of 
the sub-committee wondered whether there were other ways of utilising the 
networks of faith communities.  The Deputy Cabinet Member reported that he and 
the council were encouraging faith communities in the areas of safeguarding, 
health and safety, fire wardens and first aiders.  A member asked whether, relating 
to the area of safeguarding, the Deputy Cabinet Member felt that Southwark was 
equipped to deal with the issue of female genital mutilation.  The Deputy Cabinet 
Member explained that this was beyond his remit and was rather the responsibility 
of social care.  His understanding was that the issue related to the Muslim 
community and was not generally encountered in Southwark but he would raise 
this with the appropriate cabinet member. 

  
7.5      In response to further questions, the Deputy Cabinet Member confirmed that there 

were almost four hundred churches in Southwark out of which only one was 
subject to enforcement proceedings.  A member asked how wide the Deputy 
Cabinet Member’s remit was in terms of engagement with the community.  The 
Head of Community Engagement clarified that there was some cross-over with the 
remit of the Cabinet Member for Communities and Economic Well-Being.  The 
council was broadening and improving its engagement with all communities across 
the borough.  A member suggested that faith groups might be a conduit to 
increasing voter registration within the borough.  The Deputy Cabinet Member was 
of the view that faith communities would welcome any relevant literature.  The 
Head of Community Engagement indicated that the council was talking to faith 
groups about a similar approach to that of community volunteers.  A member 
asked the Deputy Cabinet Member whether he had gained useful information from 
his visits to the United States in terms of how best to handle issues with faith 
organisations.  The Deputy Cabinet Member felt that while American local 
government was more generous in its support, Southwark was doing well and was 
the first authority to appoint a Deputy Cabinet Member for Faith Communities. 

 

7



8 
 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee - Monday 31 March 2014 
 

8. FINAL SCRUTINY REPORT: PREVALENCE OF PSYCHOSIS & ACCESS TO MENTAL 
HEALTH SERVICES FOR THE BME COMMUNITY IN SOUTHWARK (HEALTH, ADULT 
SOCIAL CARE, COMMUNITIES & CITIZENSHIP)  

 

 8.1      Councillor Rebecca Lury, chair, Health, Adult Social Care, Communities & 
Citizenship Scrutiny Sub-Committee, introduced the report. 

  
            RESOLVED: 
  
            That the report be submitted to cabinet for consideration. 
 

  
 
The meeting ended at 9.30 pm 
 

 
 

8



1 
 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee - Tuesday 6 May 2014 
 

 
 
 
 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee held on Tuesday 6 May 2014 at 7.00 
pm at 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH  
 
 
PRESENT: Councillor Catherine Bowman (Chair) 

Councillor Gavin Edwards (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Neil Coyle 
Councillor Dan Garfield 
Councillor David Hubber 
Councillor Lorraine Lauder MBE 
Councillor Rebecca Lury 
Councillor Paul Noblet 
Councillor The Right Revd Emmanuel Oyewole 
Councillor Geoffrey Thornton 
 

OTHER MEMBERS 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor Ian Wingfield, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member 
for Housing Management 
 

ALSO PRESENT: Cris Claridge, SGTO 
Steve Hedger, Chair, SGTO 
Ian Ritchie, Tenants Fund Management Committee 
 

OFFICER 
SUPPORT: 

Shelley Burke, Head of Overview & Scrutiny 
Norman Coombe, Legal Services 
Stephen Douglass, Head of Community Engagemen 
Julie Timbrell, Scrutiny Project Manager 
 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
 

 1.1       Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Toby Eckersley. 
 

2. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR DEEMS URGENT  
 

 2.1       There were no urgent items. 
 

Open Agenda
9



2 
 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee - Tuesday 6 May 2014 
 

3. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS  
 

 3.1       There were no disclosures of interests or dispensations. 
 

4. MINUTES  
 

            RESOLVED: 
  
           That the minutes of the meeting held on 10 March 2014 be agreed as a correct 

record. 
  
 

5. CALL-IN: TENANT FUND BUDGET 2014/15 (DEPUTY LEADER AND CABINET 
MEMBER FOR HOUSING MANAGEMENT 7 APRIL 2014)  

 

 5.1      Councillor Ian Wingfield, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Housing 
Management, and Stephen Douglass, Head of Community Engagement, 
presented the decision.  Councillor Wingfield explained that he was responsible for 
taking the decision and in doing so he had received advice from Officers and had 
placed particular weight on legal advice.  He had also heard representations from 
Tenants’ Council.  Consultation had taken place over a number of months and 
engagement with Tenants’ Council was ongoing and extensive. In addition, the 
views of the Housing Commission and the results of conversations with tenants 
and the broader community were very much taken into account.  Councillor 
Wingfield stressed that conversations with tenants and the broader community had 
reinforced the council’s commitment to council housing, not just now but in the 
future, and to building 11,000 new homes. 

  
5.2      The Head of Community Engagement explained that the tenants’ fund was a ring-

fenced budget but the Southwark Group of Tenants’ Organisations (SGTO) was 
the only organisation that did not have a grant agreement, despite being the 
recipient of one of the largest grants.  He also explained that originally the fund had 
been set at a lower level but that this was increased after consultation.  A Member 
asked at what stage the Tenants’ Fund Management Committee was advised of 
the proposed change to the grant conditions.  The Head of Community 
Engagement clarified that an email had been sent on 13 August 2013. 

  
5.3      Steve Hedger, Chair of SGTO, and Ian Ritchie, Tenants’ Fund Management 

Committee, addressed the committee.  They clarified that tenants were not happy 
with the officer report on the Tenants’ Fund and felt that there had been insufficient 
consultation on proposed changes.  The Tenants’ Fund Management Committee 
had referred this to Tenants’ Council.  Mr Hedger explained that tenants wanted 
the whole fund to be subject to funding agreements and also a paper setting out 
how this would work in practice.  Tenants wanted the fund to be overseen by the 
Tenants’ Council/Tenants’ Fund Management Committee,  rather than the SGTO. 
 There were concerns about splitting of the fund and, in particular, funding being 
arbitrarily taken out of the hands of the  management committee.  There were also 
concerns about the general process.  In the past the aim had always been to reach 
a unanimous decision on any changes. 

10



3 
 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee - Tuesday 6 May 2014 
 

  
5.4      A member of the committee referred to discussions at the meeting of Tenants’ 

Council on 3 March 2014 and the status of the budget.  Mr Hedger emphasised 
that it was not in the gift of the SGTO to sign this agreement but in the gift of 
Tenants’ Council.  Another member questioned whether there could be any risk of 
this funding being seen as funding political campaigns.  Mr Ritchie responded that 
the SGTO was careful not to be political and the advice of council officers was 
sought on this.  Part of its work was to target people who were vulnerable over 
matters such as the bedroom tax. 

  
5.5      Mr Hedger stressed that tenants were concerned about how the proposed changes 

would work, about how the SGTO and the council would decide the outcomes for 
the grant funding and about how Tenants’ Council would make its input.  Tenants 
wanted more time to consider the process and the standard grant conditions.  
Tenants were angry that reports had come with little notice and taken up a lot of 
tenants’ time.  A main concern was the impact on the relationship between SGTO 
and tenants’ Council and tenants would like to see a standard approach to grant 
funding. 

  
5.6      Cris Claridge, SGTO, was concerned that unless SGTO agreed to the new 

conditions it would not receive its grant, which would impact on the five staff it 
employed.  Ian Ritchie asked whether there was any procedure to receive an 
interim payment as no funding had been received for two months.  The head of 
Community Engagement clarified that payments were now made in advance rather 
than in arrears. 

  
5.7      The Deputy Leader reassured the tenant representatives that the council was 

happy to continue working with tenants to clarify the new procedure. 
  
5.8      The members of the committee considered the evidence received from the Deputy 

Leader, Head of Community Engagement and tenant representatives. 
  
            RESOLVED: 
  

1.   That the decision not be referred back to the cabinet member. 
  

2.   That it be noted that the cabinet member and relevant officers agreed to meet 
representatives of Tenants’ Council and the Tenant Fund Management 
Committee within the next week to establish whether a mutually agreed 
position can be reached on the future governance of the tenants fund budget. 

 
 

11



Item No.  

 

Classification: 

Open 

Date: 

25 June 2014 

Meeting Name: 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee  

Report title: Scrutiny arrangements for 2014/15 

Ward(s) or groups affected: All 

From: Head of Overview & Scrutiny 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Terms of reference 
 
1. To note the size and composition of the overview & scrutiny committee, as agreed 

by annual council assembly on 11 June 2014. 
 
Establishment of scrutiny sub-committees 
 
2. In accordance with procedure rules, to appoint three scrutiny sub-committees. 
 

The committee should agree the size and composition of the sub-committees, 
including establishing a sub-committee with responsibility for crime and disorder. 

 
Political groups are entitled to the same number of reserve members as the number 
of seats they have on each sub-committee. 

 
 Size and composition of sub-committees in 2013-14 was: 
 

Scrutiny  
Sub-Committee 

Lab Lib 
Dem 

Total Chair/ 
Vice chair 

Education, Children’s Services 
& Leisure 

4 3 7 Lib Dem / Lab 

Health, Adult Social Care, 
Communities & Citizenship 

4 3 7 Lab / Lib Dem 

Housing, Environment, 
Transport & Community 
Safety 

4 3 7 Lab / Lib Dem 

 
Co-opted members were: 

 
Education, Children’s Services & Leisure – Church of England and Roman Catholic 
Diocese representatives, two parent governor representatives, one head teacher 
representative 
 
Housing, Environment, Transport & Community Safety – one representative each 
from Homeowners’ Council and Tenants’ Council. 

 

12
Agenda Item 5



Appointment of Chairs and Vice-Chairs 
 
3. To appoint chairs and vice-chairs of the three scrutiny sub-committees. 
 
KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 
 
Proportionality 
 
4. Seats on committees and sub-committees must be allocated in accordance with the 

four principles of proportionality contained in sections 15, 16 and 17 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989.  When making appointments, committees (in 
appointing sub-committees) have a duty to give effect to the following principles, as 
far as is reasonably practicable:  

 
(i) That not all the seats on a committee or sub-committee are allocated to the 

same political group;  
 

(ii) That the majority group must have the majority of seats on each committee or 
sub-committee; 

 
(iii) Subject to (i) and (ii) above, it must be ensured that the proportion of each 

political group’s seats of the total number of seats on “ordinary committees” 
reflects as closely as possible their proportion of seats on full council; and 

 
(iv) Subject to (i) to (iii) above, the proportion of each political group’s seats on each 

committee and sub-committee reflects as closely as possible their proportion of 
seats on full council. 

 
Note: This rule applies to all committees, sub-committees and joint committees, 
except for licensing committee and community councils. 

 
Scrutiny sub-committees 
 
5. Sub-committees are not “ordinary” committees and are each considered individually 

for the purposes of proportionality.  So far as it is reasonably practicable to do so, 
the allocation of seats on each sub-committee should bear the same proportion to 
the number of the seats held by that group on the council.  

 
6. The most proportionate allocation will depend on the number of members of the 

sub-committee.  The table below shows the most proportionate arrangement for 
individual sub-committees: 

 
Size of sub-committee  Lab Lib Dem Con 
Nine seats 7 2 0 
Eight seats 6 2 0 
Seven seats 5 2 0 
Six seats 5 1 0 
Five seats 4 1 0 
Four seats 3 1 0 

 

13



 
7. Members can agree an allocation that is disproportionate, provided no Member 

votes against this.  In previous years, the committee has varied the size and 
numbers on each sub-committee to provide for greater cross-party 
representation. 

 
8. The constitution specifies that the appointment and composition of scrutiny sub-

committees be considered by the first meeting of overview and scrutiny committee. 
 
Appointments to seats 
 
9. Section 16(1) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 provides that it is 

the duty of the authority or committee to exercise their power to make 
appointments to a body as to give effect “to such wishes about who is to be 
appointed to the seats on that body which are allocated to a particular political 
group as are expressed by that group”. 

 
10. There is no requirement that a seat allocated to a particular group can only be 

filled by a member of that group.  Therefore groups have the discretion to 
allocate seats as they wish, including to a member of another group. 

 
 
 
 

Background papers Held at Contact 
Agenda – Annual Council Assembly, 
11 June 2014 
 

160 Tooley Street 
London 
SE1 5LX 

Ian Millichap 
Constitutional Manager 
Tel: 020 7525 7225 
 

 
 
Audit Trail 
 
Lead Officer Shelley Burke, Head of Overview & Scrutiny 
Contributors Peter Roberts, Scrutiny Project Manager 
Version Draft 
Dated May 2014 
Key Decision? No 
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / EXECUTIVE MEMBER 

Officer Title Comments Sought Comments Included 
Director of Legal Services Yes Included in the report 
Cabinet Member N/A  
 

14



 

 
 
 

1 

  

 
Item No.  

13. 
 

Classification: 
Open 

Date: 
28 January 2014 

Meeting Name: 
Cabinet 
 

Report title: 
 

Developing Long Term Plans for the Delivery of 
New Council Homes 
 

Ward(s) or groups affected: 
 

All 

Cabinet Member: 
 

Councillor Peter John, Leader of the Council 

 
 
FOREWORD – COUNCILLOR PETER JOHN, LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 
 
Last year, I announced that Southwark would embark on the most ambitious council 
house building programme in the country: 11,000 new council homes delivering 
affordable homes for people right across our borough. 
 
We asked officers to undertake further financial modelling to determine how best to 
deliver our commitment.  Independent experts, Savills UK, have done this and in this 
report set out their conclusions and the next steps for the council.  Their view, and 
ours, is that there are a variety of different mechanisms to deliver our pledge – but that 
it is both realistic and deliverable.  
 
I welcome reference in the report to the work of the Futures Steering Board.  This 
board of representatives from the community has engaged with this work and has 
backed our commitment to building these homes.  
 
On the basis of this report we can now ask officers to develop a detailed investment 
plan and to build up capacity so that we can begin the work of delivering even more 
new council homes for Southwark, and to report back to the Cabinet in July. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
That cabinet 
 
1. Notes the New Homes Housing Investment Plan report independently prepared 

by Savills UK (Appendix 1), and in particular notes the conclusions of that report 
and the suggested next steps set out at paragraph 8 of this report. 

 
2. Notes the ongoing development of a new long term housing strategy and local 

plan for the borough that will support delivery of the investment plan. 
 
3. Instructs officers to further develop the investment plan and take appropriate 

action to build up the necessary development capacity to deliver the plan, 
reporting back to cabinet in July 2014. 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
4. In July 2013, following extensive consultation on the report of the Independent 

Housing Commission, cabinet restated the council’s commitment to council 
housing for the long term.  The leader of the council reported that the cabinet 
would give a commitment to 10,000 new council homes for rent over the next 25 

15
Agenda Item 6



 

 
 
 

2 

  

years.  This was in addition to the commitment already given to build one 
thousand new council homes by 2020, progress on which was reported to 
cabinet in October 2013. 

 
5. Cabinet also instructed the strategic director of housing and community services 

to undertake further financial modeling and assessment in order to develop long 
term plans for delivering these additional council homes in the future.  

 
6. Savills UK were commissioned to carry out this work.  They have now completed 

the production of a high level new homes housing investment plan (Appendix 1).  
The plan reflects both the ambition to deliver 11,000 new council homes and the 
intention to continue investing in the council’s existing stock. 

 
7. Recognising the important role that other social housing providers and the 

private sector have in meeting the totality of housing needs in the borough, 
cabinet also instructed the director of corporate strategy to review the council’s 
housing strategy across all tenures and sectors.  The proposed vision for a new 
housing strategy appears elsewhere on this agenda.  The development of the 
investment plan will be worked up in line with the longer term housing strategy 
vision. 

 
KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 
 
8. The full report, including executive summary, on the New Homes Housing 

Investment Plan prepared by Savills is attached as Appendix 1.  An extract of the 
Savills report setting out the conclusions and suggested next steps is set out 
below in italics: 

 
”As a result of the initial work on the stock options appraisal, and the work since 
the summer to develop the housing investment plan it is reasonable to conclude 
that the Council’s ambitions are realistic and deliverable. Key conclusions would 
include:  

 
• The HRA business plan is constructed to manage emerging risk factors 

associated with the existing stock but is unlikely to be able to have 
sufficient resources to subsidise additional new build development.  

 
• The investment plan for new homes would need to rely on funding 

supported by the future rental income stream of the new homes and 
additional subsidy from market sales, intermediate homes and additional 
capital subsidy (e.g. Affordable Housing Fund). 

 
• Recent capacity studies show a clear and transparent projection of land 

supply. However a key factor will be the actions required by the Council to 
access each of the opportunities identified including sites not in Council 
ownership.  

 
• There are a variety of different potential delivery mechanisms available that 

will need to be explored to deliver the scale of development required.  
 

• The funding of new homes is constrained within the HRA due to limits on 
the debt cap, but other structures exist which many other Councils are 
using to structure and finance new development in a Council owned 
vehicle.  

16



 

 
 
 

3 

  

 
• Management models for new housing can be developed in line with 

Council proposals for the existing stock.  
 

• A delivery framework including governance, operations, risk management, 
skills audit and procurement strategy will need to be established, led and 
managed to enable the Council to take a proactive and co-ordinated 
approach to increasing development delivery capacity, including the co-
ordination of multiple project streams.  

 
Next steps 

 
Finally the report summarises the range of actions to be taken over the next 6 – 
12 months to build up development capacity including: 

 
• The development of a single consolidated financial model including site 

specific modelling to test funding and viability  
 

• Various actions to take forward opportunities under different potential 
delivery mechanisms, including in particular engagement with registered 
providers and developers/house builders and the GLA to ensure access to 
third party expertise and capacity where these can support the Council’s 
objectives for new Council housing.  

 
• The development of a framework for the evaluation of existing HRA assets 

and the agreement of an active asset management strategy to take 
forward opportunities in consultation with residents.  

 
• Appraisal of alternative options to structure funding for new build homes in 

a way that allows expansion of the programme without breaching the HRA 
debt cap including further exploration of the establishment of a Council 
Vehicle.  

 
• The development of a detailed business plan involving site specific 

proposals as these are identified and agreed and an appraisal of funding 
options.  

 
• The establishment of delivery framework including, governance, 

operations, risk management framework, skills audit, procurement strategy 
and how this will be led and managed. 

 
• An analysis of the wider impacts of a large Council housing building 

programme, including the management and monitoring of impacts on the 
Council, the environment, the housing mix in the borough, demographics 
and the housing market.  

 
• The Council will continue to evaluate new and emerging models of delivery 

which may assist in meeting its objectives for housing investment and new 
build provision.” 

 
The Futures Steering Board (FSB) 
 
9. The board was set up in February 2013 and made up of tenant and leaseholder 

representatives. It was set up as part of the extensive community engagement 

17



 

 
 
 

4 

  

exercise that the council developed on the future of council housing. It was 
originally supported by Solon Community Network and is now supported by 
Shared Intelligence.  

 
10. The FSB is made up of the following members: 
 

• Jeff Barnett - Home Owners Council 
• Cris Claridge - Southwark Group of Tenants Organisations 
• Steve Hedger - Tenants Council 
• John Nosworthy - Home Owners Council 
• Ian Ritchie - Tenants Council 
• Sandy Stewart - Home Owners Council 
• Carol Vincent - Tenants Council 
• Alistair Smyth – Shared Intelligence 

 
11. The FSB set out its own conclusions and recommendations to the council on the 

future of council housing, which were reported to cabinet in July 2013.  The 
board have continued to meet and be engaged in working with the council, acting 
as an important sounding board and consultative group, on the future of council 
housing in the borough.   

 
12. The FSB welcomes the opportunity to work with the council to explore options for 

delivering more homes for people in Southwark. The board is delighted to see 
the council’s clear and strong commitment to building 11,000 new homes to be 
let at social rent levels over the next 30 years. 

 
13. The FSB want to be able to explore all options over the next 6 – 12 months. The 

board is particularly keen to consider more detailed financial modelling around 
recycling receipts to build more homes, including developing “hidden homes”, in 
order to keep any borrowing the council needs to undertake to an absolute 
minimum.  The FSB would also like the council to fully investigate the option of 
raising finance by issuing bonds. 

 
14. With so many on our waiting list already, the board want to ensure there is a net 

gain of homes for social rent, which means leaving no stone left unturned to help 
us achieve this. A broad range of innovative financial instruments will be needed, 
along with strong and informed programme management. 

 
15. The board looks forward to working together to developing new and productive 

approaches to this ground-breaking and vitally important programme for 
Southwark. 

 
Policy implications 
 
16. In order to deliver the new homes housing investment plan, the council will need 

to make the most of its position as a major landowner and as the housing and 
planning authority for the borough.   

 
17. Southwark’s Core Strategy was adopted in April 2011.  The saved Southwark 

Plan (2007) is the council’s unitary development plan and provides more detailed 
borough-wide policies. The council is currently reviewing both the saved 
Southwark Plan and Core Strategy to prepare a Local Plan called the New 
Southwark Plan. This will set out a development strategy for the next 15 years. 
The New Southwark Plan, consultation on which will commence shortly, will set 

18



 

 
 
 

5 

  

out a strategic vision for new developments in the whole of the borough, 
including new housing development.  It will be important that any investment plan 
considerations are aligned to the emerging New Southwark Plan.   

 
18. The proposed housing vision (elsewhere on this agenda) includes a principle of 

using every tool at our disposal to increase the supply of all kinds of home across 
Southwark, including new council homes for rent. 

 
Community impact statement 

 
19. Southwark is a borough which has historically experienced high levels of housing 

need and this is likely to continue, with projected increases in the borough’s 
population.  At 1 April 2013 there were 21,144 households on the Southwark 
housing register. 70% of these were new applicants (14,713) and 30% were 
existing tenants wishing to transfer (6431).  While the council has policies to 
encourage greater supply of new larger properties these are still in very short 
supply. 

 
20. The commitment in July to deliver 11,000 new council homes for rent over the 

next 25 years was based on an engagement plan that was inclusive of all the 
borough’s communities and provided a range of mechanisms to provide all 
residents with the opportunity to engage. In particular, a dual approach was 
taken to ensure the community engagement process met its core aim of 
universality.  The principles of that engagement process have continued to be 
taken forward since July, including continued involvement of the Futures Steering 
Board. 

 
21. The development of an investment plan to deliver 11,000 new council homes 

(alongside a longer term housing strategy vision for the borough) and the 
intention to continue investing in the council’s existing stock will benefit 
communities across Southwark.  This will be particularly so in addressing the 
shortage of genuinely affordable housing for those on low incomes as well as 
improving the quality of housing conditions of the borough. 

 
Resource implications 
 
22. All costs associated with the development of this plan to date have been 

contained within the Housing Revenue Account. The resource implications 
arising from a proposal of this size are significant and will be addressed in detail 
as plans progress. 

 
SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS 
 
Director of Legal Services 
 
23. Savills (UK) Limited has delivered an updated report building on their original 

Housing and Finance Stock Options Appraisal. This raises a number of matters 
such as land supply, funding and different delivery mechanisms and this report 
now looks to officers to develop the Council’s investment plan further and to 
report back to the Cabinet later in 2014. 

 
24. There are no legal issues to be considered arising from the report at the present 

time although there will clearly be a number of legal implications to be 
considered when officers report back to cabinet in July 2014. 

19



 

 
 
 

6 

  

 
Strategic Director of Finance and Corporate Services  
 
25. This report notes progress on the ongoing development of a new long term 

housing strategy and local plan for the borough that will support delivery of the 
investment plan. The resource implications contained within the body of this 
report are noted. 

 
26. There are no new financial implications quantified at this stage and any 

additional resources associated with developing the investment plan will need to 
be contained within available budgets. This will be reported through the quarterly 
budget monitoring and specific updates to cabinet on this strategy.  

 
27. Further financial appraisals will be undertaken to identify the expected costs of 

this investment plan. Approval of any new expenditure will be subject to the 
council’s budget and procurement processes. 

 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
Background Papers 
 

Held At Contact 

Cabinet paper – Independent 
Housing Commission – 
Conclusions And Next Steps 
Following Community And 
Stakeholder Engagement 
 

Southwark 
website 
 

Claire Linnane, Corporate 
Strategy 
020 7525 0732 

Link 
http://moderngov.southwark.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=3882 

 
Cabinet paper – Establishment of 
a housing commission – 13 
December 2011 

Southwark 
website  

Stephen Gaskell, Corporate 
Strategy 
020 7525 7293 

Link 
http://moderngov.southwark.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?Id=2588 

 
Cabinet paper - Direct Housing 
Delivery : Phase 2 – 22 October 
2013 

Southwark 
website  
 

Tim Bostridge, 
Regeneration 
020 7525 1222 

Link 
http://moderngov.southwark.gov.uk/documents/s41478/Report%20Direct%20Housing%20Delivery%20Phase%202.pdf 

 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 
      No. Title 
Appendix 1 New Homes Housing Investment Plan  

 
 

20



 

 
 
 

7 

  

 
AUDIT TRAIL 
 
Cabinet Member Councillor Peter John, Leader of the Council 
Lead Officer Gerri Scott, Strategic Director of Housing and Community 

Services 
Report Author Graeme Gordon, Director of Corporate Strategy 

Paul Langford, Head of Housing Operations 
Version Final 
Dated 16 January 2014 
Key Decision? Yes 
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 

MEMBER 
Officer Title Comments Sought Comments Included 
Director of Legal Services  Yes Yes 
Strategic Director of Finance and 
Corporate Services 

Yes Yes 

Cabinet Member  Yes Yes 
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 16 January 2014 
 

21



 

 

 

Date: December 2013 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan 

 
Prepared for: Southwark Council 

 

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by: 

Savills (UK) Limited 

33 Margaret Street 

London W1G 0JD   

APPENDIX 1

22



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 2 of 43 Savills 

Contents 

1. Executive Summary .................................................................................................................. 4 

1.1. New housing investment plan ................................................................................................. 4 

1.2. Potential Delivery Mechanisms ............................................................................................... 5 

1.3. Alternative structures to facilitate the funding of new Council Housing .................................. 7 

1.4. Building development capacity................................................................................................ 8 

1.5. Conclusions ............................................................................................................................. 8 

1.6. Next Steps ............................................................................................................................... 9 

2. Introduction ............................................................................................................................. 10 

2.1. Background ........................................................................................................................... 10 

2.2. Review scope and methodology ........................................................................................... 10 

3. Housing investment plan ....................................................................................................... 11 

3.1. Update of baseline HRA ........................................................................................................ 11 

3.2. Financial plan for new homes ............................................................................................... 12 

4. Potential delivery mechanisms.............................................................................................. 19 

4.1. Analysing local opportunities through existing assets and land capacity ............................. 19 

4.2. Potential delivery mechanisms .............................................................................................. 20 

5. Alternative structures to facilitate funding of new Council housing ................................. 30 

5.1. New build through Council Vehicle ....................................................................................... 31 

5.2. Governance and operation of the Council Vehicle................................................................ 32 

5.3. Legal and financial implications ............................................................................................ 32 

5.4. Management models for new housing .................................................................................. 34 

6. Building development capacity ............................................................................................. 36 

6.1. Governance ........................................................................................................................... 36 

6.2. Risk Mapping......................................................................................................................... 36 

6.3. Operational Skills and Systems ............................................................................................ 37 

23



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 3 of 43 Savills 

6.4. Potential delivery mechanisms .............................................................................................. 38 

7. Conclusion ............................................................................................................................... 40 

8. Appendix A: Housing Market Report .................................................................................... 42 

9. Appendix B: Examples of Council vehicles established for the purpose of housing 

development ........................................................................................................................................ 43 

 

  

24



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 4 of 43 Savills 

1. Executive Summary 

This report builds on the July 2013 Savills report on the Housing and Finance Stock Options 

Appraisal.  That report focussed largely on the financial position of the existing stock and  

concluded that although choices needed to be made between timing and levels of investment in 

the short term, in the longer term the Council could plan for an investment programme for existing 

stock beyond the current Warm, Dry, Safe programme where this represents a sustainable long 

term solution that meets residents expectations.  It recommended further work was done to 

consider the financial performance of the Council’s housing assets in order to inform investment 

decisions, and that the Council considers its appetite to lead regeneration and new build, which 

did not necessarily  need to be constrained by the limits on borrowing within the Housing 

Revenue Account (HRA). 

Since that report the Council has announced an ambition to expand its current new build 

programme of 1,000 units by an additional 10,000 units of social rented accommodation.  This 

second stage report develops a 30 year housing investment plan which reflects this ambition as 

well as maintaining and investing in the existing stock base.  The key stages of the Savills’ review 

are as follows: 

 The development of a high level 30 year investment plan 

 Analysis of local opportunities through existing assets and land capacity 

 Advice on steps required to build a development strategy to support delivery at this scale 

1.1. New housing investment plan 

The starting point for this report is a review of the HRA business plan, incorporating changes  

(including government consultation on social housing rent policy) and emerging risks since July 

2013 to provide a robust baseline position.  

The updated business plan illustrates that while the HRA is forecast to have sufficient resources 

to meet the needs of the current stock over the next 30 years, it is prudent to maintain current 

borrowing headroom below the debt cap in order to deal with potential liabilities in the medium 

term.  As such it would not be prudent to rely on additional resources from the HRA to provide 

funding for new build development. 

The report then goes on to explore alternative funding and potential delivery mechanisms that 

could be explored  to deliver an expanded programme of new build.   

The current 1,000 new homes programme is developed on the basis that they are funded from 

contributions from the Council’s Affordable Housing Fund made up of in lieu payments from 

developers and Right to Buy receipts. 

If this approach were taken to the funding of an additional 10,000 new homes at social rent, it is 

estimated that there would be a total funding requirement of £2.4bn including the impact of 

inflation over a 30 year period.   

25



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 5 of 43 Savills 

Any programme of new social rented homes would form part of a wider development of mixed 

communities new build for sale and shared ownership.  Using the mix of tenures that form part of 

1,000 new homes programme, this would mean an additional 2,900 market sale properties as well 

as additional shared ownership properties.  The cross subsidy from this would reduce the net 

funding requirement from £2.4bn to £1.5bn over 30 years.  The overall balance of market and 

social housing across the borough would be in line with Council housing policy, recognising that a 

proportion of the market element of future homes will be developed by others. 

The new social rented housing will generate rental income.   After allowing for costs of 

management, maintenance and future capital investment the balance could be available to 

support the cost of providing the new housing.  Any financing provided through this route would 

reduce the subsidy requirement. However in view of the overall scale of funding required, it is 

unlikely that the entire debt requirement could be met through Council borrowing so an element of 

additional subsidy is likely to be required to be met from the Affordable Housing Fund and/or 

reserve balances.   

It is important to consider how financing can be accessed in a way that does not impact on the 

HRA capital finance requirement and at a scale that can be contained within the Council’s overall 

prudential limits.   

These projections are very sensitive to changes in assumptions over time.  Key risks to be 

managed on the programme will include build costs and land availability.  Where build costs 

exceed current estimates, and if existing Council land supply needs to be supplemented by 

acquiring land from third parties, the financing requirement will increase significantly. 

The report illustrates this sensitivity and considers the extent to which actions could be taken to 

manage these risks, including changes in tenure mix, introducing new models such as rent to buy 

and continuing to review the value of financing via S106 contributions compared with the value of 

on site provision. 

The investment plan and sensitivities provide an initial indication of the funding requirement to 

deliver new homes and the range of routes available to meet this requirement.  In exploring the 

range of potential delivery mechanisms available the report has therefore considered the extent to 

which each mechanism could offer the greatest ability to use available subsidy to maximum 

impact, thereby minimising the Council’s exposure to additional financing requirement.   

1.2. Potential Delivery Mechanisms 

As well as considering the funding requirement for the additional 10,000 new social rented 

homes, the report has also considered the available land supply.  Savills has reviewed work 

carried out to date to assess development potential across the borough including the 2009 

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) and 2010 Development Capacity 

Assessment (DCA). 

Both these documents are relatively recent and show a clear and transparent projection of 

capacity that has been used to inform Savills’ assessments of land supply required to deliver the 

Council’s ambitions using  a range of different potential delivery mechanisms. 

While this shows that there is no absolute physical constraint on land supply to deliver the 

Council’s objectives, not all of this land is in Council ownership.   A key factor will be the actions 

26



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 6 of 43 Savills 

required by the Council to access each of the opportunities identified.  The Council will need to 

employ a range of proactive actions to take advantages of opportunities available to it as major 

landowner, and ensure it makes best use of its powers as local housing and planning authority to 

prepare a new housing strategy and Local Plan. This might include, for example, taking action at 

an early stage to acquire non Council owned land where advantageous to do so.  Given the clear 

and comprehensive evidence of land supply, Savills considers the Council’s ability to set 

proactive plans to access these opportunities to be the critical factor in land availability to deliver 

the Council’s ambitions.  The Mayor’s Housing Covenant – 2015-18 Programme published in 

December 2013 expresses the Mayor’s wish to work with boroughs, through their strategic 

planning and enabling roles and also keenness to encourage boroughs not only to develop 

affordable homes in their own right but strongly encourages boroughs to work in consortia with 

others to maximise efficiency in programme delivery. Whilst the Mayor’s Covenant inevitably 

presents some challenges, there is a great degree of synergy with the direction which this report 

sets out. 

There are a variety of different potential delivery mechanisms available which will need to be 

explored  to deliver the scale of development required. Different mechanisms will suit different 

opportunities.   

Potential delivery mechanisms identified include 

 Extending the 1,000 new homes programme across existing Council housing estate 

 Working in partnership with RPs to deliver new Council housing 

 Council retention of S106 affordable housing 

 Joint ventures 

 Reconsideration of land use and intensification 

There are also smaller scale opportunities available through buy backs of existing leasehold 

homes and bringing empty homes back into use which will  continue in line with current Council 

actions.  Buy back activity could include buybacks to increase the long term rented stock holding, 

or in order to facilitate estate regeneration.    

Each potential delivery mechanism has been considered at a high level to explore the extent to 

which it meets key criteria of maximising supply and value, looking at the following aspects: 

 Indicative dwelling output  

 Skills and systems required by the Council in order to bring forward opportunities 

 Management of construction costs 

 Exposure to sales risk 

 Product control 

 Financial impact on the Council 

27



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 7 of 43 Savills 

 Opportunities 

 Limitations 

 Further action required to progress the opportunity 

As part of the development of this report Savills has also analysed the proposals put forward by 

the Futures Steering Board in July 2013 and used this review to inform the proposals in this 

report.  The FSB will continue to be a key stakeholder to be included in consultation about the 

programme as delivery plans are developed. 

1.3. Alternative structures to facilitate the funding of new Council Housing 

In the past, a number of financial, legal and regulatory issues have resulted in Registered 

Providers (“RPs”) taking the lead in delivering new social housing, even on council owned land.  

On estate regeneration projects an RP would typically acquire the new affordable housing, and 

councils would often sell off or hand over land for an RP to build new social housing.  

The main reason for this approach was that through the HRA subsidy system, councils were not 

able to retain the net rental income from council housing.  So they could not afford to borrow to 

build or buy any new council housing.  On the other hand RPs were able to borrow to fund the 

acquisition of new housing, because they retained the net rental income from new housing as well 

as their existing asset base.  In addition, RPs had access to HCA grant and had built up 

development skills. 

Today, the position has changed.  Due to a combination of changes in the Localism Act, HRA 

reform, HCA grant reduction, and interest from institutional investors,  councils are in a similar (or 

arguably stronger) position than RPs to deliver new social housing. As a result, many are looking 

at taking a direct involvement in the delivery and ownership of new social housing.   

Ownership of the new housing within the HRA is often the preferred option for a council, but this 

may not be possible at scale due to Government caps on HRA borrowing.  Whilst the rationale for 

the cap was largely to restrict borrowing against existing council housing, it applies to all debt in 

the HRA even for new housing.  The government announced in the Autumn Statement 2013 the 

potential for Councils to bid competitively for a small relaxation in the HRA debt cap, to enable 

new build, linked to Council contributions of free land, and receipts from asset sales, and 

delivered in partnership with RPs.  While this is welcomed, the amount of money is small when 

considered on a national basis and only available over a two year basis.   As a result, many 

councils are looking to own new housing outside the HRA where there is no restriction on 

borrowing, beyond normal prudential borrowing principles.  

Whilst ownership of new housing in the general fund may be possible, there are legal risks with 

this approach and no clear precedents for councils looking to deliver and hold new housing in the 

general fund.  For these reasons many councils are using the option of establishing a council 

owned vehicle as a simple step to support the delivery of new council housing. 

There are legal and financial implications to be considered, as well as options for the governance 

and operation of the Council Vehicle, and these issues are set out in the report. 

28



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 8 of 43 Savills 

Management models for new housing, whether funding is structured in a Council vehicle or 

directly in the HRA, can be developed in line with Council proposals to develop management 

models for its existing stock and actions to promote increased tenant management. 

1.4. Building development capacity 

The report sets out the actions required by the Council in order to access the development 

opportunities in the borough to enable a significant increase in delivery capacity from 1,000 to 

11,000 new homes.  In reality delivery capacity will need to be even larger, in order to ensure 

mixed communities, and to provide a level of cross subsidy from market sales. 

Systems will need to be in place to ensure a step change in delivery capacity (separate from land 

supply) which may mean more than building up existing structures and operations, given the level 

of increase required. 

The report proposes a governance framework with a single co-ordinating role with responsibility 

for budget and programme management, as well as comprehensive management of risk. 

It proposes an operational framework supported by a procurement strategy that establishes 

frameworks for the supply of professional advice across the range of disciplines required including 

legal, design, cost, value, land use/planning consultancy, project management, programme 

management, and funding, ensuring individual project managers can access the support required 

in a timely manner at a competitive cost. 

1.5. Conclusions 

As a result of the initial work on the stock options appraisal, and the work since the summer to 

develop the housing investment plan it is reasonable to conclude that the Council’s ambitions are 

realistic and deliverable.  Key conclusions would include: 

 The HRA business plan is constructed to manage emerging risk factors associated with 

the existing stock but is unlikely to be able to have sufficient resources to subsidise 

additional new build development. 

 The investment plan for new homes would need to rely on funding supported by the 

future rental income stream of the new homes and additional subsidy from market sales, 

intermediate homes and additional capital subsidy (e.g. Affordable Housing Fund) 

 Recent capacity studies show a clear and transparent projection of land supply.  However  

a key factor will be the actions required by the Council to access each of the opportunities 

identified including sites not in Council ownership.   

 There are a variety of different potential delivery mechanisms available that will need to 

be explored  to deliver the scale of development required. 

 The funding of new homes is constrained within the HRA due to limits on the debt cap, 

but other structures exist which many other Councils are using to structure and finance 

new development in a Council owned vehicle. 

29



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 9 of 43 Savills 

 Management models for new housing can be developed in line with Council proposals for 

the existing stock. 

 A delivery framework including governance, operations, risk management, skills audit and 

procurement strategy  will need to be established, led and managed to enable the Council 

to take a proactive and co-ordinated approach to increasing development delivery 

capacity, including the co-ordination of multiple project streams. 

1.6. Next Steps 

Finally the report summarises the range of actions to be taken over the next 6 – 12 months to 

build up development capacity including 

 The development of a single consolidated financial model including site specific modelling 

to test funding and viability 

 Various actions to take forward opportunities under different potential delivery 

mechanisms, including in particular engagement with registered providers and 

developers/house builders and the GLA to ensure access to third party expertise and 

capacity where these can support the Council’s objectives for new Council housing. 

 The development of a framework for the evaluation of existing HRA assets and the 

agreement of an active asset management strategy to take forward opportunities in 

consultation with residents 

 Appraisal of alternative options to structure funding for new build homes in a way that 

allows expansion of the programme without breaching the HRA debt cap including further 

exploration of the establishment of a Council Vehicle  

 The development of a detailed business plan involving site specific proposals as these 

are identified and agreed and an appraisal of funding options. 

 The establishment of delivery framework including, governance, operations, risk 

management framework, skills audit, procurement strategy and how this will be led and 

managed 

 An analysis of the wider impacts of a large Council housing building programme, including 

the management and monitoring of impacts on the Council, the environment, the housing 

mix in the borough, demographics and the housing market. 

 The Council will continue to evaluate new and emerging models of delivery which may 

assist in meeting its objectives for housing investment and new build provision. 

 

 

 

30



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 10 of 43 Savills 

2. Introduction 

2.1. Background 
In July 2013 Savills reported on the Housing Stock Options appraisal.  That review focussed on 

the financial position of the Council’s Housing Revenue Account(HRA).  It concluded that 

although choices needed to be made between timing and levels of investment in the short term, in 

the longer term the Council could plan for an investment programme for existing stock beyond the 

current Warm, Dry, Safe programme where this represents a sustainable long term solution that 

meets residents expectations.  The recommendations from the stock options appraisal included  

 A detailed evaluation of the financial performance of the Council’s housing assets, 

alongside an assessment of the extent to which assets meet the Council’s overall social 

housing objectives 

 Exploration of the Council’s appetite to lead regeneration and renewal and the 

development of funding strategies to deliver these within the existing HRA debt cap or 

through alternative financing arrangements 

In addition  the Council has made a commitment to increase its current new build programme of 

1,000 units by an additional 10,000.  Savills has been commissioned to develop a 30 year 

housing investment plan which reflects this ambition. 

2.2. Review scope and methodology 
The key stages of Savills’ review are as follows: 

 Develop a high level 30 year investment plan 

 Analyse local opportunities through existing assets and land capacity 

 Advise on steps required to build a development strategy to support delivery at this scale 

The starting point for this report is a review of the HRA business plan, incorporating changes and 

emerging risks since July 2013 to provide a robust baseline position, in order to understand the 

extent to which the existing HRA has capacity to fund new homes. 

The report then goes on to explore alternative funding and potential delivery mechanisms to 

deliver an expanded programme of new build.  The report concludes with an outline development 

strategy with an action plan for activities over the next 6 – 12 months to test viability locally and 

refine the programme on a site specific basis.   

 

31



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 11 of 43 Savills 

3. Housing investment plan 

3.1. Update of baseline HRA 
Savills has revisited the HRA business plan assumptions used in their first phase report in order 

to incorporate the impact of emerging risk factors, including government changes to rent policy, 

and to confirm a realistic and prudent projection of financial capacity within the HRA.  As part of 

this process Savills has tested and refined assumptions with the Council in the following areas 

 The impact of proposed government changes in rent policy which depress future rental 

income by ending of the ability to converge rents to target beyond 2014/15 and the linking 

of future rent increases to CPI rather than RPI. 

 Refining assumptions about the future capital programme, including additional amounts 

for fire safety, cyclical decorations and other improvements 

 Testing assumptions about future capital receipts and void disposals, in the context of the 

requirement of land for new build. 

The impact of these various factors is illustrated below. 

 

Fig 1: Baseline HRA business plan 

The red line represents the cap on borrowing capacity within the HRA, set by government at 

£577m following the introduction of self financing in April 2012.  The blue lines shows a potential 

requirement to increase HRA debt up to the cap in the medium term in order to finance 

requirements for investment in existing homes which may be required if identified risks materialise 

(e.g. additional fire risk works).  The green line shows the HRA maintaining a minimum balance of 

reserves in order to manage risk. 

32



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 12 of 43 Savills 

This illustrates that while the HRA is forecast to have sufficient resources to meet the needs of the 

current stock over the next 30 years, it is prudent to maintain current headroom below the debt 

cap in order to deal with potential liabilities in the medium term.  As such it would not be prudent 

to rely on additional resources from the HRA to provide funding for new build development. 

The assumptions for the HRA assume that existing regeneration schemes such as Aylesbury are 

effectively self funding with costs incurred in the short term which are recovered from the project 

over time. 

3.2. Financial plan for new homes 

3.2.1. Baseline assumptions 

The current 1,000 new homes programme projects a tenure split of 70% social rent and 30% 

social home buy, with an additional 200 homes to be built for market sale. 

This is largely funded by contributions from the Council’s Affordable Housing Fund, generated 

through the receipt of in lieu payments for affordable housing as well as Right to Buy receipts.   

Build costs were originally estimated by Grant Thornton of between £131m and £153m.  Both 

Grant Thornton and Davis Langdon estimated costs of £160,000 per unit on phase 1.  Experience 

from phase 1, and the nature of sites in phase 2 has meant costs are currently estimated at 

£170,000 per unit based on cost reports prepared by Davis Langdon. 

The starting position for an additional 10,000 homes is that they are let at social (target) rents.  

Clearly a programme of this size would include additional units of other tenures (both market and 

intermediate or shared ownership) to produce a mix in line with Southwark’s planning policies and 

housing demand.  

Savills’ modelling seeks to explore the subsidy required to deliver 10,000 social rented units as 

well as the options available to provide cross subsidy from an expanded programme that would 

include a range of tenure mixes.   

Build cost estimates are based on a review of current market rates, assuming no significant site 

abnormalities and a volume building programme.  This provides for an average build cost of 

£150,000 per unit rising in line with inflation over time.  This includes an allowance for on costs, 

S106, CIL contributions etc.  Savills are confident this is deliverable as an average across the 

programme, subject to effective and efficient procurement and cost control. 

It is assumed the expanded 10,000 programme starts in 2015/16 and builds up over time, to 

continue beyond the life of the current 1,000 home programme completing in 2045/46.    An 

illustrative profile which shows the programme building up over time is set out below. 

33



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 13 of 43 Savills 

 

Fig 1: Projected new build numbers 11,000 homes 

Where market or shared ownership housing is included in addition to the 10,000 social rented 

units the financial modelling is based on sales values from a market review by Savills which 

shows the following sales history between quarter 2 2012 to Q1 2013 

All Sales: Q2 2012 to 
Q1 2013 

North 

SE1 

SE16 

SE17 

Central 

SE5 

SE15 

SE24 

South 

SE22 

SE21 

Southwark 

 

Detached £403,600 £771,833 £1,089,098 £931,101 

Semi-Detached £387,556 £699,419 £750,286 £669,135 

Terraced £443,957 £515,393 £562,309 £512,736 

Flat £431,171 £255,738 £280,328 £357,703 

Table 1: Market sales report Savills 

A full market report on which these assumptions is based is included at Appendix A.  

Moving prices on to a 2015/16 price base, a starting assumption of an average  sales value of 

£378,000 is used for modelling purposes. 

3.2.2. Illustrative funding requirement 

Total build costs to deliver 10,000 social rented homes are estimated at £2.4bn.  The annual cost 

increases  to reflect the build up of the programme over time.  At this stage the profile of build is 

estimated to start at 100 social rented units in 2015/16, building up over time to reach 500 social 

rented units and 100 market sales per annum by 2035.  This profile is in addition to the 1,000 unit 

0 

100 

200 

300 

400 

500 

600 

1 3 5 7 9 11 13 15 17 19 21 23 25 27 29

Nu
m

be
rs

 of
 u

ni
ts

Year

New social housing pa 

New units

34



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 14 of 43 Savills 

programme which will increase the numbers of units delivered in the early years.  The profile is 

provided for modelling purposes and reflects the time required to access larger scale 

development opportunities.  It would need to be tested with more detailed site feasibility studies in 

the next stage of the development of the plan.  

 The projected base line build cost requirement for the 10,000 additional social rented over 30 

years  is illustrated below. 

 

Fig 2: Projected cost requirement for 10,000 additional social rented units 

Direct delivery is relatively capital hungry.  If the programme were funded entirely by the Council 

in the way in which the 1,000 new homes programme is funded, there would a capital funding 

requirement of £250m in the first 10 years, rising to a total of £2.4bn over 30 years 

3.2.3. Cross subsidy from market sales and shared ownership 

Using a similar ratio to the 1,000 homes programme, there would be some 2,900 market sales 

delivered alongside the 10,000 social housing,  Additional units built for intermediate tenures such 

as shared ownership will also generate a level of receipts which would act as cross subsidy, 

potentially reducing the funding requirement further.  This recognises that Southwark’s 

contribution to new Council homes on mixed sites across the borough will not be out of kilter with 

planning policy targets for mixed development across the borough, but a proportion of the market 

element of future homes will be developed by others. 

The cross subsidy from profits on these sales is forecast to reduce the scale of funding 

requirement to £165m over 10 years and £1.5bn over 30 years. 

3.2.4. Funding secured against future rental income 

In addition to the cross subsidy delivered through market and shared ownership housing,  the new 

social rent housing will generate rental income.  After allowing for costs of management, 

maintenance and future capital investment the balance could be available to support the cost of 

providing the new housing.  Any financing provided through this route would reduce the subsidy 

requirement.  

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

1 3 5 7 9 11 13 15 17 19 21 23 25 27 29

£m

Year

Build cost pa £m

Build cost

35



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 15 of 43 Savills 

Based on a social rent level, it is estimated that the new housing would have a value of some 

£80,000 per property (in 2015) – i.e. additional debt of £80,000 per property could be serviced 

and repaid from the net rental income that it generates. Financing could come through a variety of 

routes including Council borrowing via PWLB, bond finance or institutional investment, for 

example through a sale and leaseback type structure.  Access to partner investment is also 

explored in section 4.  The chart below shows the impact of both the cross subsidy from market 

sale and shared ownership, as well as the additional debt that could be raised against the social 

housing. 

   

Fig 3: Projected net build cost requirement for 10,000 additional social rented units 

Including the debt that could be supported by the social housing, the net cost of delivering the 

social rented housing reduces to £28m over 10 years and £262m over 30 years.  This represents 

the subsidy that would be required (in addition to market sale profits and social housing debt), to 

deliver the 10,000 properties. 

The total additional debt shown here is some £1.3bn over 30 years – equivalent to £130,000 per 

unit (including inflation).  However, there would be an element of recycling of debt, as the housing 

acquired in earlier years generates rental income and reduces the need for debt to support new 

housing in later years.  Taking account of this, the maximum additional debt requirement would 

reduce to £1.0bn.   

In considering the financing requirement to be met by the Council it is important to  consider how 

financing can be accessed in a way that does not impact on HRA capital finance requirement and 

at a scale that can be contained within the Council’s overall prudential limits.   

In view of the overall scale of funding required, it is unlikely that the entire debt requirement could 

be met through Council borrowing.  To reduce the funding requirement, additional subsidy or 

external funding would be required. 

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

1 3 5 7 9 11 13 15 17 19 21 23 25 27 29

£m

Year

Net build cost pa £m

Net cost Social rent debt Market/intermediate profit

36



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 16 of 43 Savills 

3.2.5. Sensitivity and risk 

These projections are very sensitive to changes in assumptions over time.  Key risks to be 

managed on the programme will include build costs and land availability.  As an example 

sensitivity Savills has modelled the impact of an increase in build costs of 10% and a requirement 

to purchase land for 25% of the new homes in the later years of the programme. 

The impact of this on the subsidy required to deliver the social housing is an increase from £28m 

to £76m over 10 years or from £262m to £1.2bn over 30 years 

Risk management actions to restore the financial position could include 

 Revised tenure mix 

o Introduction of affordable rents for smaller units where this fits with affordability 

limits established by the Council in separate studies 

o Rent to buy and intermediate rents 

o Increased sales 

 Additional subsidy from the Council through increased void disposals and land sales or 

other corporate receipts. 

 Use of future HRA surpluses where these are not required for investment in existing stock 

 Bringing forward sales 

 Third party involvement 

As an example, Savills has modelled the potential impact of a rent to buy product being used for 

10% of the social housing.  This would reduce the subsidy requirement by £14m in the first 10 

years (down to £62m), and over 30 years would reduce the subsidy requirement by £0.1bn down 

to £1.1bn.     

While a tenure mix provides opportunities for additional cross subsidy, it will also address the 

Council’s planning policies to support mixed communities.  Intermediate and rent to buy models 

will also address the housing needs of those in Southwark unable to access home ownership or 

social housing. 

3.2.6. Evaluation of financing via S106 contributions 

Another option that the Council can consider to increase the capital funding available to support 

new build is the evaluation of S106 contributions from developers against the provision of new 

Council housing via this route.  It should be noted that at least in the early years, this money is 

already earmarked for the 1,000 new homes programme. 

Affordable Housing on site is currently delivered by Registered Providers; however an alternative 

model would be for these properties to be acquired by the Council,  to contribute to the 10,000 

homes target. This option is identified in the next  section of this report on potential delivery 

mechanisms. 

37



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 17 of 43 Savills 

The existing Direct Housing Delivery Programme is mainly funded from in lieu payments from 

signed s106 agreements. The council’s adopted Affordable Housing SPD 2008 (Section 3.6) 

together with the Draft Affordable Housing SPD 2011 (section 6.3) clarifies the Southwark Plan 

and Core Strategy policy framework and sets out the approach in relation to securing the 

maximum level of affordable housing from developments. Specifically, it sets out the sequential 

tests relating to the delivery of affordable housing, firstly relating to securing on site provision, 

secondly off site provision and thirdly an in lieu payment. 

The NPPF, London Plan and local policies all set out that in exceptional circumstances (the local 

policy refers to “very exceptional” circumstances) a commuted sum may be acceptable in lieu of 

on-site or off-site affordable housing. The adopted Affordable Housing SPD (2008) sets out three 

'value areas' in the borough, for the purposes of negotiating commuted sums. Applications in 

band 1 close to the river are evaluated on a case by case basis, band 3 to the south of the 

borough require a payment of £80,000 per habitable room and band 2, in between, £100,000 per 

habitable room. 

Developers of private housing are required to submit a viability assessment which is evaluated by 

the Council  to determine the level of affordable housing required on site, or where a greater 

proportion be available off site or where a payment in lieu could be demonstrated to deliver a 

higher number of affordable homes. 

BNP Paribas in their March 2011 report assessed 29 schemes identified as part of the 

Development Capacity Assessment. 

The evaluation of the cost benefit of on site provision over payments in lieu  requires assessment 

on a scheme by scheme basis determined by viability assessment. The BNP Recommendations 

were as follows
1
: 

 “The Council should set a relatively high level of payment in lieu to ‘test’ the reaction of 

the market. Six of the twenty-nine viable schemes could yield a payment in lieu at these 

levels; 

 The level of payment in lieu should be kept under review and adjusted if the response is 

inadequate or results in too much demand, to the detriment of on-site affordable housing 

delivery; 

 The results of BNP appraisals indicate that there is no correlation between size of 

scheme and the level of payment in lieu that can be secured. 

 Consequently, the Council could set any size threshold that it deems appropriate. 

 The Council will need to decide how to balance revenue maximisation by either securing 

a higher rate of payment per unit from a smaller number of schemes; or securing a lower 

rate per unit from a larger number of schemes. The latter approach would result in the 

provision of less on-site affordable housing units. 

                                                      

1
 Source BNP Paribas 

38



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 18 of 43 Savills 

 Careful consideration will need to be given to the timing of payments in lieu, as this will 

have an impact on cash-flow and viability. 

 Finally, BNP views a mixed approach, whereby developers can ‘split’ their affordable 

housing obligations between on-site provision and payment in lieu, as an optimum route 

to achieving a balance between revenue maximisation and delivery of new affordable 

housing units.” 

As part of developing its plans for the financing of 10,000 additional homes, this evaluation would 

need to be updated in the light of 2013 sales values and projections on a site specific basis.  A 

process would also need to be established to regularly update and review the evaluation over the 

life of the programme.   

The investment plan and sensitivities shown above provide an initial indication of the funding 

requirement to deliver new homes and the range of routes available to meet this requirement.  In 

exploring the range of potential delivery mechanisms available Savills has therefore considered 

the extent to which each mechanism can offer the greatest ability to use available subsidy to 

maximum impact, thereby minimising the Council’s exposure to additional financing requirement.   

 

39



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 19 of 43 Savills 

4.   Potential delivery mechanisms 

4.1. Analysing local opportunities through existing assets and land capacity 
As well as considering the funding requirement for the additional 10,000 new social rented 

homes, Savills has also considered the available land supply.  Savills has reviewed work carried 

out to date to assess development potential across the borough including the 2009 Strategic 

Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) and 2010 Development Capacity Assessment 

(DCA). 

The Core Strategy sets a housing target of 24,450 net new homes in Southwark between 2011 

and 2026, which equates to 1,630 homes per year. The London Plan 2011 introduces a higher 

target of 20,050 net new homes between 2011 and 2021, which equates to 2,005 homes per 

year.  The Mayor’s draft housing strategy Homes for London, published November 2013 

highlights increasing concern over how to house London’s growing population which has led to a 

top down review of the current housing targets and implementation strategy. The ongoing housing 

shortage is invariably pushing up house prices and rents and as a result a challenging quota of 

42,000 homes per annum has been suggested over the next ten years across London as a whole.   

Southwark's planning policies are supportive of growth and highlight the need for new homes, 

particularly affordable homes all across the borough.  Southwark regularly reviews  housing 

capacity and monitors housing completions in order to inform these targets as there is some 

debate about whether the higher figure is achievable. Therefore the addition of the Direct Delivery 

programme and the commitment to building 11,000 homes over a 30 year period will help the 

Council to meet its targets. In this context Savills believes there is sufficient land capacity 

available to deliver an additional 10,000 homes over 30 years. It does not require a change in the 

Council’s planning policies to accommodate this level of growth, although the Council may want to 

reflect the programme in its emerging New Southwark Plan. 

These documents are relatively recent and show a clear and transparent projection of capacity 

and that the Council has been targeting housing growth in the borough in a way that means 

although its plans are ambitious, they are realistic.  These documents have been used to inform 

Savills’ assessments of land supply required to deliver the Council’s ambitions using a range of 

different potential delivery mechanisms set out in section 4.2. 

The report sets out below an extract from the introduction to the DCA in Southwark.  While it 

reflects a standard methodology is does give some view of the land which is available, should 

market conditions prevail to deliver these sites.   

“The Development Capacity Assessment (DCA) is a tool used to estimate potential future housing 

capacity that may come forward across a number of sites in the Borough. It was  developed 

following on from the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 2009 (SHLAA) produced by 

the Greater London Authority (GLA). The DCA looks in more detail at the potential housing sites 

over 0.25 Hectares identified through Southwark's input into the SHLAA alongside smaller sites. 

The SHLAA helped the GLA in developing a 10 year housing target for each Borough which was 

set out in the London Plan 2011. 

The DCA considers  the sites proposed as potential development sites in the 2009 SHLAA and 

determined whether they are all suitable as potential housing sites in the future and the timescale 

in which they realistically may come forward. It has assessed sites already proposed as allocated 

40



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 20 of 43 Savills 

sites in the Southwark Plan UDP 2007, as well as sites that currently have valid planning 

permission, those that are on land owned by the council, those that are proposed through the 

Council’s  Area Action Plans and other sites above and below 0.25 Hectares that have the 

potential to accommodate housing in the future. 

These assessments are not based on discussions with owners, rather, they are an assessment of 

potential sites that may help the Council to deliver on its housing targets over the time period of 

the Core Strategy. As such, it is important to stress that the Development Capacity Assessment is 

a forward capacity estimate only which assists Southwark Council in developing its housing 

trajectory. It is not to be used as a definitive list of sites that will come forward in the future, or with 

the number and breakdown of housing units that are outlined within it.”
2
 

While this shows that there is no absolute physical constraint on land supply to deliver the 

Council’s objectives, not all of this land is in Council ownership.   A key factor will be the actions 

required by the Council to access each of the opportunities identified.  The Council will need to 

employ a range of proactive actions to take advantages of opportunities available to it as major 

landowner, and ensure it makes best use of its powers as local housing and planning authority to 

prepare a new housing strategy and Local Plan. Given the clear and comprehensive evidence of 

land supply, Savills considers the Council’s ability to access these opportunities to be the critical 

factor in land availability to deliver the Council’s ambitions.  This might include, for example, 

taking action at an early stage to acquire non Council owned land where advantageous to do so.  

In order to ensure the Council can take maximum advantage of the range of potential delivery 

mechanisms set out below, it will need to set proactive plans to access these opportunities and 

drive value.  The report sets out examples of these requirements below. 

4.2. Potential delivery mechanisms  

In order to deliver a programme of the size required to fit with the Council’s ambitions, all 

available potential delivery mechanisms will need to be considered.   

Potential delivery mechanisms identified include 

 Extending the 1,000 new homes programme across existing Council housing estate 

 Working in partnership with RPs to deliver new Council housing 

 Council retention of S106 affordable housing 

 Joint ventures 

 Reconsideration of land use and intensification 

There are also smaller scale opportunities available through buy backs of existing leasehold 

homes and bringing empty homes back into use which this  report assumes continue to be 

progressed in line with current Council actions.  Buy back activity could include buybacks to 

increase the long term rented stock holding, or in order to facilitate estate regeneration.   The 

                                                      

2
 Development Capacity Assessment august 2010 

41



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 21 of 43 Savills 

strategy proposed in the report assumes that these opportunities are progressed in line with 

current Council actions. 

The various potential delivery mechanisms available need to be considered in combination rather 

than as a menu of options.  Different mechanisms will suit different opportunities.  In order to 

consider the merits of each of the potential delivery mechanisms that would provide access to a 

larger supply  the report sets out an initial view of the following aspects, exploring the extent to 

which each potential mechanism meets key criteria of maximising supply and value: 

 Indicative dwelling output  

 Skills and systems required by the Council in order to take maximum advantage of the 

supply available 

 Management of construction costs 

 Exposure to sales risk 

 Product control 

 Financial impact on the Council 

 Opportunities 

 Limitations 

 Further action required to progress the opportunity 

4.2.1. Extending 1,000 Homes Programme. 

 
Indicative Dwelling Output 

The existing 1,000 new homes programme has drawn on opportunities for development of new 

homes through the identification of Council owned land. This has been identified by a variety of 

means; via local knowledge of the stock and redundant sites (e.g. garages). In addition there is 

potential to expand the Hidden Homes Programme potentially through adding floors onto suitable 

existing blocks in council ownership. 

Supply through this route could be expanded via identification through stock condition survey 

work used to identify high capital investment estates and a framework for active management of 

HRA assets. 

The current programme anticipates 1,000 new Council rent and shared ownership homes (plus 

200 market sale) over a period to 2020. The current programme is limited by funding which is via 

cash in lieu payments and RTB receipts, and potentially funding from the GLA. There is sufficient 

land available, as illustrated by the 2009 SHLAA and 2010 DCA, to show there is potentially 

scope both to increase this programme and to extend it beyond 2020.  Savills estimate that there 

is potential to increase supply through this route by up to another 1,000 dwellings.  Supply is 

constrained through this route and any proposals would need to be taken forward in consultation 

with residents.   

42



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 22 of 43 Savills 

Skills and Systems 

The Council has had to skill up to embark on the 1,000 homes programme and has had to adopt 

systems for procuring professional teams and construction partners. The programme is in its 

relatively early stages and there is an opportunity to review systems and practices to identify 

whether value and costs can be driven to provide greater efficiency. 

Construction Costs 

The council has sought advice from Davis Langdon on construction cost. In Savills’ view the cost 

assumptions  are at the upper end of what Savills would expect for valuation purposes. 

Construction is intended to be delivered via OJEU compliant procurement using existing 

frameworks, although other options are available including direct LBS procurement. There is the 

opportunity to review construction costs and tendering practices. Particularly key is the 

importance of supervision of design teams to ensure that design is focussed on delivering 

appropriate quality and that design drives value in open market sale products. 

Exposure to Sales Risk 

Savills understand that whilst 200 units will be provided for sale under the existing programme, 

there has been little appetite for the Council to take developers risk [or returns] at scale. The 

Council will need to evaluate its preferred approach which will depend on circumstances.  One 

option is to seek to work with developers to deliver open market sale through joint ventures. 

Whilst this presents the opportunity to share or transfer risk, there is also the lost opportunity to 

take developer’s profit, which could in turn be used to provide additional cross subsidy to fund 

Council rent and shared ownership housing. There is the opportunity to introduce skills and 

expertise into the development process to enable the Council to benefit from greater returns, 

whilst maintaining an appropriate level of risk assurance. 

Product Control 

The Council retains maximum control for the product and provided appropriate levels of design 

supervision are introduced, value and costs can be driven effectively.  

Financial Impact 

Direct provision utilising capital resources is relatively capacity hungry method to develop. 

However via factoring in revenue streams and sales receipts, along with potential capital grants 

from the GLA, the cashflow is capable of being managed to reduce debt call. 

Opportunities 

Opportunities to improve delivery through this mechanism include 

 Identification of further estates through a detailed review of HRA assets 

 Procurement review 

 Development management review 

 Approach to sales risk 

43



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 23 of 43 Savills 

Limitations 

The limitations of this approach include  

 Ultimately constrained supply of land where residents support further development 

Possible Further Action 

Possible further action to maximise delivery through this mechanism would include 

 Review procurement 

 Review development management 

 Review programme appraisal methodology 

 Evaluate approach to sales risk 

4.2.2. Work in partnership with RPs to deliver new Council Housing 

 
Indicative Dwelling Output 

Registered Providers (RPs) have a long track record of delivery of homes in the borough. The 

current RP development pipeline is 2,234 new homes over the next 3 years
3
. RPs are well placed 

to secure debt on their existing assets and can lever in significant levels of debt, which they 

continue to invest in the borough. This is valuable capacity and this activity forms a significant 

element of the local new homes provision market.  

There is potentially a risk that these RPs see the Council’s strategy as a threat to their existing 

investment plans in Southwark. However these RPs are current investment partners where 

generally there is a good understanding and relationship with the Council.  

In Savills’ view, there is merit in seeking to work closely with existing RP partners and potentially 

new RPs  and property companies to establish collaborative relationships with the aim of 

developing models of new homes delivery which seek to maximise the number of new homes 

produced whilst continuing to lever their assets.  

In recent years RPs have responded to the changed funding regime, where grant rates are 

reduced, by diversifying into development of homes for sale and, increasingly, market rent. This is 

in addition to their existing shared ownership product range. Therefore there is an opportunity to 

work with RPs where the Council works in partnership, securing new social  rent as council 

housing with RPs securing other housing products to meet their own needs. Savills propose that 

early discussions are held with RPs to discuss ways of joint working.   These discussions would 

need to be held at Executive Director/Chief Executive level in addition to any ongoing liaison 

through Southwark Housing Association Group (SouHAG). 

                                                      

3
 Source: Cabinet report 16 July 2013 Independent Housing Commission  

44



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 24 of 43 Savills 

Savills believe there is an ability to access opportunities to deliver an additional 1,500 – 2,500 

social rented Council homes in this way.  

Skills and Systems 

Whilst there is some variance, there is a significant range of best practice in development skills 

and process which afford the Council with the ability, through joint working, of shared approaches 

and benefit from existing expertise. 

Construction Costs 

RPs have established OJEU procurement frameworks in place which provide the opportunity for 

the Council to secure competitive rates based on existing levels of capacity and volume.  In 

section six the report recommends a review of current procurement frameworks and the extent to 

which alternatives may present better value for money and a more effective route to expertise in 

the local market. 

Exposure to Sales Risk 

Again there is the opportunity to share learning and best practice with RPs and potentially 

dependant upon the nature of a partnership to either share or transfer market sale risk. 

Product Control 

RPs have established programmes and are conversant with existing design expectations. 

However, where the Council has different requirements (e.g. lifts in low rise blocks and higher 

specification of fire safety) these can be incorporated through early engagement with an RP and 

the design of products. 

Financial Impact 

As noted above there is the ability, depending upon appetite to either share or transfer risk.  For 

example if the Council purchases the completed social rented housing it bears the financing risk 

but none of the development risks associated with the project. 

Opportunities 

Savills believes there is scope to deliver new opportunities, either arising from Council land 

holdings or where third party land is acquired – in conjunction with RPs whose stock is adjacent to 

Southwark’s.   

Limitations 

Whilst many RPs do wish to diversify, this route will not suit all current partners. Early discussions 

with individual RPs will be key to establishing a good understanding of mutual objectives. 

Possible Further Action 

Possible further action to maximise delivery through this mechanism would include 

 One to ones with senior representatives from Council and RPs to explore opportunities. 

45



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 25 of 43 Savills 

 

4.2.3.  Council Retains S106 affordable housing 

Indicative Dwelling Output 

Via the planning system the market will generate a pipeline of affordable housing. The current 

system means that these affordable homes are purchased by RPs. The level of affordable 

housing is determined by a blend of policy compliance which is subject to a toolkit viability 

assessment. Whilst the level of affordable housing which can be “afforded” by a particular project 

is subject to market conditions, it is anticipated that there would be a supply between 500 to 1,000 

homes, which without Council intervention may have been sold to RPs to deliver as affordable 

rather than social rents. 

Skills and Systems 

The key issue is pricing of the social rented housing. Developers would normally seek prices 

through competitive tendering; therefore the “value” of the social rent in the viability is subject to 

market forces. However, the value could be established by formula and negotiation in conjunction 

with the Council as the Local Planning Authority (LPA). Savills have experience of this model 

operating in practice. The Council has considerable skills and expertise in this area which is 

deployed in its existing approach to negotiating section 106’s. 

Construction Costs and Exposure to Sales Risk 

This route relates entirely to the Council's use of planning powers and as such does not expose 

the Council to construction or sales risk. 

Product Control 

Potentially there is less control over product as the delivery of the Council rent and shared 

ownership will be ancillary to the developers’ objective to deliver at a low cost and to maximise 

value of the market product. Early involvement, which is possible through negotiations at the 

planning stage, can mitigate this risk. 

Financial Impact 

This will be subject to viability and management performance. It will need to be tested on site by 

site basis.  

Opportunities and Limitations 

Volume is largely determined by the market and the Council’s need to take “in lieu” payments to 

fund the 1,000 homes programme. Cost value can only be assessed on an individual scheme by 

scheme basis to evaluate where it is beneficial to take dwellings on site or via funding to the new 

homes programme. 

Possible Further Action 

Possible further action to maximise delivery through this mechanism would include 

46



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 26 of 43 Savills 

 Discussion with developers / house builders 

 Utilise new Southwark Plan to create supportive environment 

4.2.4. Joint Ventures 

 
Indicative Dwelling Output 

There is sufficient land available, as illustrated by the 2009 SHLAA and 2010 DCA to potentially 

provide 2,000 to 3,000 dwellings over a thirty year period on large scale sites that would be 

suitable to a joint venture approach. However to unlock this potential will require significant 

gearing up and capacity building within the Council. This will mean taking a different approach to 

the risk and reward balance. Before embarking upon JV activity the Council will need to carefully 

consider its objectives for doing so. Potentially JVs offer the opportunity for the partners to pool 

strengths to mutual benefit. Here a key driver for the Council will be access to lower construction 

costs, development, construction and market sale expertise. Drivers for developers are access to 

opportunity and collaboration with the Council and access to its statutory powers. 

Skills and Systems 

It is proposed that consideration is given to establishing joint ventures as delivery vehicles to 

deliver either large standalone land opportunities, or as an extension of this to deliver clusters of 

development opportunities in a particular location. Southwark has one of the strongest track 

records of delivering housing regeneration through JV arrangements including at Peckham, 

Canada Water, Elephant and Castle, One Tower Bridge and Aylesbury.  The issue for the Council 

in gearing up its skills and systems to expand this for the delivery of 10,000 new homes will be 

one of resources. 

 The premise of the proposed JV would be to bring together complementary skills and resources 

to create additional value and to create vehicles to deliver complex and challenging opportunities. 

In essence this means that the Council brings land, investment and statutory powers, i.e. planning 

and Compulsory Purchase. Developers / house builders bring effective supply chains, 

construction, sales and marketing expertise.  Blending these complementary skills can, if 

effectively structured, drive costs down and values up. 

Construction Costs 

Developers and house builders have very effective supply chains based on volume procurement, 

standardisation and group procurement arrangements with suppliers. A developer’s business 

model is to seek to maximise the efficiency of build and to maximise value created, through 

understanding the market and product. The Council entering into a JV with a developer allows 

these benefits to be acquired. 

Exposure to Sales Risk 

JV structures vary widely, however the principle is one of risk sharing not risk transfer. In order to 

maximise the returns to either party, both parties will share common objectives. In this case it 

would be structured so that the Council acquired social housing from the JV. There are examples 

of this working successfully elsewhere in the market.  Savills is advising Oxford City Council 

(OCC) and Grosvenor in their Joint Venture to develop land at Barton, Oxfordshire to deliver 800 

47



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 27 of 43 Savills 

homes. Savills is advising the joint venture on affordable housing and land disposal to developers. 

Outputs are profits from the regeneration, OCC are re-investing these profits into creation of 

Council housing at affordable rents. 

Product Control 

By joining with a third party developer in a JV, absolute control of the product can be secured by 

establishing Council requirements at the establishment of the joint venture. 

Financial Impact 

The financial impact on the Council will depend on the structure of the JV.  One example is for the 

Council to contribute land and to receive completed housing units in return.  An additional route 

could be through the Council providing loan finance to the JV secured at low rates via the PWLB 

but on lent to the JV with a margin, providing a revenue return back to the Council.  Alternatively a 

developer may be able to put its own investment either from a third party (unsecured cash) or 

(typically) – working capital.  This would reduce the loan requirement at the Council, but also 

reduce the return the Council might achieve on the financing arrangement, as the developer’s 

cost of funding is likely to be higher than the Council.  

Opportunities 

In general, the prior creation of a separate vehicle and/or legal structure could have some benefits 

when a public sector body has a significant pipeline of similar development projects, and a desire 

to contract with a single private sector partner to bring these forward.  However, there can be 

significant time and complexity in the procurement and establishment of such a vehicle. 

Consequently Savills would suggest that this delivery mechanism is suited to larger estates and 

unlocking non residential sites. 

Limitations 

This mechanism provides for the future flexibility to bring in third party development expertise 

where this is seen as beneficial to the expansion of activity and increased requirement for 

funding.  The Council would need to consider its appetite to share risk and reward, as well its 

ability to manage the relationship over time, ensuring value to the Council as originally envisaged.    

Possible Further Action 

Possible further action to maximise delivery through this mechanism would include 

 Work to establish Council’s preferred approach 

 Soft market testing with developers 

4.2.5. Reconsideration of land use and intensification 

Indicative Dwelling Output 

In order to unlock land to meet housing and employment needs better, a collaborative approach 

to master planning and regeneration is required using the levers available to the Council as 

landowner and planning authority to determine, influence and deliver (in partnership) change in 

48



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 28 of 43 Savills 

localities.   This would involve consideration of complex issues around different employment uses 

that are more modern and compatible with residential neighbours which could be considered as 

part of the development of the new Housing Strategy and Local Plan.   

Potentially by deploying a joint venture model or series of JVs combining complementary skills 

and resources it is possible to negotiate transactions with existing land owners. This approach 

may lend itself to unlocking opportunities. These are more likely to be larger, longer term 

proposals which Savills believes could deliver in the region of 2,000 – 3,000 dwellings, in the later 

part of the 30 year period. 

Skills and Systems 

The skill requirements at the Council will be similar to the JV section above. In addition the 

Council will need to gear up internal resource to work on negotiation with land owners and 

developers and to co-ordinate with stakeholders and develop masterplans and business models.  

This is a complex area and the Council will have a good knowledge of the opportunities which 

exist. In order to unlock these opportunities and for the Council to secure social rented housing it 

will be necessary for the Council to take an active role and to seek to work with developer 

partners over a long period of time. JVs offer the opportunity for the Council to share in the long 

term value of these opportunities and secure the social housing. 

Construction Costs,  Exposure to Sales Risk,  Product Control,  Financial Impact,  

Opportunities 

These will all be as set out in the section above on Joint Ventures.  In terms of financial impact it 

will be important for the Council to take proactive action as both a planning and housing authority 

to ensure value is captured by the Council from any redesignation and intensification of third party 

sites.  Opportunities to acquire non council owned land at an early stage could be explored where 

advantageous to do so. The Council has an opportunity to bring the full weight of its powers as 

Local Planning Authority, CPO and enforcement to bear with early engagement of the market to 

drive value for the Council, providing it takes proactive action early. 

The Government’s Autumn Statement 2013 has announced an increase in funding in the form of 

loans or equity stakes for infrastructure to support and unlock large regeneration sites (defined as 

1,500+ homes). There is likely to be an annual bidding round, with the HCA administering the 

scheme. The Government is keen to get Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) involved, so £50m 

in 2015/16 is earmarked for LEP-supported schemes.  There are nine schemes currently in the 

pipeline but longer term this fund may provide opportunities for Southwark bringing forward 

complex large sites.  The development of strong links between the LEP growth strategy and the 

Council’s plans for new homes would facilitate access to funds where available and required. 

Limitations 

The Council will need to consider the extent to which any redesignation may conflict with 

employment generation policies.  It will also need to consider how any value uplift will increase its 

costs, for example where land needs to be acquired from third parties. 

 

 

49



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 29 of 43 Savills 

Possible Further Action 

Savills understands that Grant Thornton has already advised the Council on the opportunities 

available through this route and this provides a useful starting point to set plans for proactive 

action.  Savills would recommend that more work is done to assess how the Council can access 

the land capacity and opportunities that might be released through this route. 

50



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 30 of 43 Savills 

5. Alternative structures to facilitate funding of new Council housing 

In the past, a number of financial, legal and regulatory issues have resulted in Registered 

Providers (“RPs”) taking the lead in delivering new social housing, even on council owned land.  

On estate regeneration projects an RP would typically acquire the new social housing, and 

councils would often sell off or hand over land for an RP to build new social housing. The GLA’s 

December 2013 Investment Prospectus prescribes conditions on rents which can be charged and 

furthermore nominations protocols, which may not provide the best fit with Southwark’s ambitions. 

At this stage the financial model does not rely on receipt of grant but does require subsidy in 

some form (for example from the affordable housing fund and cross subsidy from market sales). 

The main reason for this approach was that through the HRA subsidy system, councils were not 

able to retain the net rental income from council housing.  So they could not afford to borrow to 

build or buy any new council housing.  On the other hand RPs were able to borrow to fund the 

acquisition of new housing, because they retained the net rental income from new housing as well 

as their existing asset base.  In addition, RPs had access to HCA grant and had built up 

development skills. 

Today, the position has changed.  Due to a combination of changes in the Localism Act, HRA 

reform, HCA grant reduction, and interest from institutional investors,  councils are in a similar (or 

arguably stronger) position than RPs in the ability to deliver new social housing.  In particular: 

 Following the HRA self-financing reforms, councils now have control of a substantial 

asset base, with debt levels that are typically lower than an RP’s.  They can now retain 

net rent on existing and new housing, so have the financial ability to fund the build or 

acquisition of new housing. 

 Councils have easy access to funding for capital investment from the Public Works Loan 

Board (PWLB) or from external funders, and they can typically secure funding at a better 

rate than most RPs
4
.  

 HCA grant levels are much lower and councils also have access.  

As a result, many local authorities are looking at taking a direct involvement in the delivery of new 

social housing, and in owning the new housing themselves.   

Ownership of the new housing within the HRA is often the preferred option for a council, but this 

may not be possible because Government has imposed a cap on the total level of debt that can 

                                                      

4
 To support capital investment, local authorities have access to funding from the Public Works Loan 

Board (PWLB).  Variable rate loans are available for up to 10 years and fixed rate loans for up to 50 
years. Fixed interest rates are determined by the UK Debt Management Office (DMO), by reference to 
gilt yields and published twice a day. The cost of borrowing for a local authority is some 0.8% above 
gilts (the cost of borrowing for Government), so is very competitive when compared to most private 
sector organisations.  Today, the fixed rate for a 30 year loan is some 4.4%, and the short term 
variable rate 1.27%. Whilst RP funding costs are typically 0.5% to 1% higher than local authorities, 
some of the very largest are able to borrow at rates close to local authorities. 

 

51



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 31 of 43 Savills 

be held in the HRA.  Whilst the rationale for the cap was largely to restrict borrowing against 

existing council housing, it applies to all debt in the HRA even for new housing.  The government 

announced in the Autumn Statement 2013 the potential for councils to bid competitively for a 

small relaxation in the HRA debt cap, to enable new build, linked to council contributions of free 

land, and receipts from asset sales, and delivered in partnership with RPs.  While this is 

welcomed, the amount of money is small when considered on a national basis and only available 

over a two year basis.   As a result, many councils are looking to own new housing outside the 

HRA where there is no restriction on borrowing, beyond normal prudential borrowing principles.  

Whilst ownership of new housing in the general fund may be possible, there are legal risks with 

this approach and no clear precedents for councils looking to deliver and hold new housing in the 

general fund.  For these reasons many councils are using the option of establishing a council 

owned vehicle as a simple step to support the delivery of new council housing. 

5.1. New build through Council Vehicle 

Under this option the Council establishes a separate wholly owned vehicle, using its General 

Powers of Competence, which becomes the owner of the new rented housing.  The separation of 

ownership into a new vehicle provides transparency and accountability, and the flexibility to 

deliver new council housing through different routes. 

The new tenancies let by the Council Vehicle would not be secure tenancies with the Right to 

Buy, but assured tenancies, similar to those that would be offered by an RP.  However, the 

Council could impose full control over the terms of these tenancies, and choose to require the 

Council Vehicle to offer tenants a range of contractual rights, similar to those that they would have 

held by statute under a secure tenancy (e.g. Right to Buy).   

The Council Vehicle could be funded through PWLB loans in the same way as the HRA, but the 

borrowing would not count towards the HRA debt cap.  The only restriction on borrowing would be 

the normal prudential borrowing principles.  Resources from the Affordable Housing Fund, or 

potentially other capital reserves, could also be made available to the Council Vehicle.  However, 

there may be some limitations on the use of retained right to buy receipts through a Council 

Vehicle. 

There are a range of issues relating to consents associated with both land transfer and financial 

support which are detailed below.  

When appropriating land between the HRA and general fund there are no tax issues to be 

considered, but when transferring land to a separate legal entity the implications of stamp duty 

land tax (SDLT) need to be considered.  The operation of the Council Vehicle could also open up 

VAT and corporation tax issues.  There are options for managing and mitigating these liabilities 

through the legal structure of the Council Vehicle and the use of the Council’s ability to recover 

VAT.  Again, these will require more detailed advice. 

The option of holding the housing in a Council Vehicle provides advantages to the Council in 

terms of flexibility of funding (in that the Council itself would not necessarily need to borrow) and 

in terms of flexibility of tenancy type and the ability to engage in a wide range of commercial 

activity.  This route is a relatively tried and tested approach which has been adopted by an 

increasing number of Councils (estimated 40 councils)  including, for example, at Woking, 

52



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 32 of 43 Savills 

Ashford, Newcastle, Gateshead, Hounslow, Brent, Ealing and Greenwich.  Examples of models in 

use at other authorities are included at Appendix B. 

5.2. Governance and operation of the Council Vehicle 

There is a range of options for the operational organisation of a vehicle to deliver a council’s 

objectives, ranging from:  

1. The establishment of a vehicle (effectively part of the Council) that is there purely as the legal 

owner and funder of the housing.  

2. The development of a Council Vehicle into a separate organisation that undertakes a wide 

range of activities to deliver new housing. 

The exact operational structure of a vehicle will vary from council to council depending on the 

requirements and preferences of each organisation.  In order to progress with delivering housing 

outputs in a timely manner, the Council Vehcile can initially be set up as set out in 1, moving 

towards 2 if required. 

As the Council Vehicle would be a wholly owned subsidiary, the Council would be able to exercise 

full control over its activities, in appointment and removal of directors, and if necessary winding up 

the vehicle. 

5.3. Legal and financial implications 

5.3.1. Council Vehicle formation 

Formation of a new vehicle is a straightforward process.  In terms of legal form, the new Council 

Vehicle could be a Company Limited by Guarantee (CLG) or a Company Limited by Shares 

(CLS).  The preferred route due to flexibility for future changes and tax reasons is a CLS. 

Transfer of property between different entities can give rise to a liability to pay Stamp Duty Land 

Tax (SDLT).  However, there is relief from this liability where the two entities are part of the same 

group of companies.  Formation of a CLS under the Council’s ownership should allow the Council 

to take advantage of this relief. 

5.3.2. Transfer of land or property from the Council to the Council Vehicle – 

possible need for consent 

The Council Vehicle option can be used in any of the potential delivery mechanisms set out in 

section 4.  Completed housing could be acquired by the Council Vehicle from a developer, or 

alternatively the Council Vehicle could develop housing itself on Council land, or enter into 

partnership with third parties.    

In the case of development by the Council Vehicle on Council land, consideration would need to 

be given to the timing of transfer of property by the Council, and any payment by the vehicle.  

There may be a need to seek consent from Government for the disposal of land, and possibly for 

the provision of financial assistance to the Council Vehicle (for example if the land were 

transferred below market value).  State aid issues may also need to be addressed in respect of 

any market housing that the Council Vehicle develops but would not apply to social housing 

developed. 

53



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 33 of 43 Savills 

There are a number of general consents in place that deal with these circumstances – if these do 

not apply, the Council would need to apply for special consent.  Consents would be needed to 

address both the disposal of land and any potential financial assistance, to use the same example 

as above, if land were transferred below market value.   Whilst recent changes to the general 

consents on HRA land give councils flexibility to dispose of vacant HRA land at any value, the 

issue of financial assistance still needs to be considered. Different consents apply depending on 

whether the land is being transferred from the HRA or general fund.   

In summary, whether or not there is a need to apply for special consent will depend on a number 

of issues, including: 

 Is the land vacant or does it contain existing housing? 

 Is the land being transferred from the HRA or General Fund? 

 Is it being transferred at market value or an under-value? 

 Is it being transferred for affordable housing?  

In general, the transfer of vacant land at market value from the Council to the Council Vehicle is 

likely to be covered by general consents.  Legal advice would be needed to consider the precise 

circumstances of any proposed transfer, and whether or not specific consent would be required. 

5.3.3. Payment for transfer of land or property 

At its inception, the Council Vehicle will have no financial resources, and would be financially 

reliant on the Council.   As a result, payment by the Council Vehicle to the Council for the transfer 

of land would be either through the Council accepting deferred payment, or a loan from the 

Council to the Council Vehicle at a level equal to or above the transfer value.   

In either case, the Council Vehicle would have a financial liability to the Council, and would need 

to be satisfied that it was capable of meeting this liability when it fell due.  Similarly, the Council 

would need to be satisfied that its loan to the Council Vehicle complied with its internal risk and 

treasury policies.  

As well as needing to satisfy the Council’s internal risk and treasury policies, the Council may also 

need to be mindful of state aid issues in setting the terms of any lending to the Council Vehicle.  

Whilst there are some exemptions for affordable housing, it may be that lending would need to be 

at a market rate where state aid issues might arise in respect of funding for market housing 

options.  This could be addressed by a rate that was linked to prevailing PWLB rates with an 

additional margin.   

5.3.4. Financing of the Council Vehicle 

As a part of the initial set up of the Council Vehicle, a comprehensive business plan would need 

to be developed that demonstrated its financial viability.  This would need to cover the sourcing 

and terms of financing of the Council Vehicle and demonstrate that it had the ability to meet its 

financial liabilities. 

54



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 34 of 43 Savills 

In addition to the initial land transfer, the Council Vehicle would need to be satisfied that it would 

be able to secure sufficient financial resources to support subsequent activities, including 

development of housing on the land, and any other operating activities.  

The simplest source of finance would be from the Council, through loans from existing financial 

resources or additional borrowing.  In the case of new PWLB funding, as the Council would not be 

borrowing for capital expenditure on HRA assets, then any additional borrowing would have no 

impact on the HRA Capital Financing Requirement, which is restricted by the borrowing cap. 

In developing its financing strategy, both the Council Vehicle and the Council may wish to explore 

alternatives to loan financing from the Council to the Council Vehicle, to ensure that there were no 

other options that were more appropriate or offered better value for money.  For example, there is 

a precedent in Barking & Dagenham where their council owned housing entity secured external 

funding instead of using loans from the Council.  Whilst there are a number of arguments for and 

against alternative financing options, there is now very strong interest by institutional investors in 

financing new Council housing investment.  

5.4. Management models for new housing 

Management models for new housing, whether funding is structured in a Council vehicle or 

directly in the HRA, can be developed in line with Council proposals to develop management 

models for its existing stock and actions to promote increased tenant management. 

This could follow the local management model explored at options appraisal stage including 

 The establishment of an overarching framework of governance to ensure the 
development of local decisions while managing the impact on the overall HRA of local 
management decisions.   

 A policy framework for decisions on how a local management area is defined.  These 
areas must make sense to residents on the ground, and must be of a scale and with a 
balance of properties which enable viable proposals to develop.  Area based asset 
analysis work may be one way of ensuring that viable property portfolios are established, 
alongside appropriate levels of debt and funding to sustain long term improvement. This 
needs to sit alongside resident engagement to ensure these areas reflect existing 
communities and will enable the establishment of a clear local focus which balances the 
views of tenants and leaseholders. 

 Resident engagement which allows each area to explore options for the management 
model that suit their appetite for involvement and partnership, drawing up local service 
standards to inform any contractual arrangements required.   

 A programme of soft market testing, visits to other providers, and in the case of external 
partners, procurement with resident involvement.   

 The establishment of a service structure, with local delivery alongside shared support 
services, enabling the financial strength of the HRA to be maintained, while devolving 
delivery to a local level.     

There is clearly a significant role for the existing Council service in the ongoing management of 

any new social housing held by a Council owned vehicle.  Legal advice would be required on 

whether this could be dealt with through a management agreement or require broader 

55



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 35 of 43 Savills 

procurement processes as this will depend very much on decisions about how the vehicle is 

structured should a decision be established to proceed down this route.   

   

56



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 36 of 43 Savills 

6. Building development capacity 

The report highlights the sorts of actions required by the Council in order access the development 

opportunities in the borough to enable a significant increase in delivery capacity from 1,000 to 

11,000 new homes.  In reality delivery capacity is likely to need to be even larger, in order to 

ensure mixed communities, and to provide a level of cross subsidy from market sales. 

Systems will need to be in place to ensure a step change in delivery capacity (separate from land 

supply) which may mean more than building up existing structures and operations, given the level 

of increased capacity required. 

This section sets out the headings and achievable workstreams for the next few months to 

provide a foundation for delivery. 

6.1. Governance 

The governance framework for the programme would benefit from a single co-ordinating role 

responsible for budget ownership, management and control mechanisms including: 

 Investment decisions, which need to be timely to move in a dynamic market  

 Spending  

 Purchases  

 Statutory Powers e.g. CPO  

  Delegated authority  

  Standing Orders and the need for any revision to deal with increased programme size 

Workstream 1: Review existing governance systems. 

6.2. Risk Mapping 

Comprehensive risk maps with sensitivity analysis will also need to be developed to include key 

development risks: 

 Planning  

 Land assembly / leasehold interests  

 Resident consultation  

 House price variations 

 Impact of rent policy  

 Construction costs  

57



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 37 of 43 Savills 

Workstream 2: Review existing risk identification approach and propose a new approach 

for an expanded programme. 

6.3. Operational Skills and Systems 

The operational framework would need to include actions required to ensure systems are in place 

for delivery including a skills audit / gap analysis/ staff resource requirements and a review of 

project management systems, procedures and practices.  

The skills available to the development function would need to include; 

 Ability to appraise opportunities to identify the most suitable form of development 

 Awareness of value creation and place making to maximise the development opportunity 

 Strong planning skills to be able to present rationale for developing outside of existing 

plans 

 Ability to persuade / influence local residents / members / officers on the opportunity 

being created and benefits to the local community 

 Flexible approach to working within other teams within the Council to create new 

opportunities 

 Strong financial ability to understand how the required level of return will be achieved 

from proposed development 

 Project management skills to ensure programmes are delivered to time, cost and quality 

as this will create confidence both by Council and residents and enable future support 

 Good market knowledge across all sectors 

Workstream 3: Carry out skills audit and organisational restructure. 

6.3.1. Housing for Sale and Non Residential 

The types of skills needed would encompass all tenure types including housing for sale and 

potentially non residential uses. This is so that each opportunity is analysed in how it creates the 

most value, short, medium and long term. Product design and finish must respond to the specific 

market and specialist input into design is required to maximise value.  

Workstream 4: Carry out review of design process and approach to housing for sale. 

6.3.2. Programme Management 

Managing the cashflows of the development process and clear consistent reporting  is also a 

significant key task.  This will assist in driving the performance of the programme. Acquiring or 

holding land costs money or has opportunity costs and the way in which these costs are 

supported, through investment income or other sources until such time the scheme is developed 

and generates receipts / revenues has to be critical to the overall success of the programme. 

58



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 38 of 43 Savills 

The Council may wish to consider establishing a single coordinating role, initially in order to 

provide the proactive momentum and co-ordination needed to establish the development function.  

Ideally this role would have both private and public sector development experience and be able to 

put together a team with the required skill mix and capacity, to include existing skilled individuals 

within the Council.  

Workstream 5: Review project appraisal, cashflow and management systems and 

recommend potential systems suitable for an extended programme. 

6.3.3. Procurement strategy 

The programme will require a range of procured services including 

 Construction 

 Development partners 

 Professional advisors 

o Legal 

o Design  

o Cost consultancy 

o Value added / agency consultancy 

o Land use/planning consultancy 

o Project management 

o Programme management 

o Funding 

Workstream 6: Review framework arrangements for constructors, development partners 

and advisors. 

6.4. Potential delivery mechanisms 

The following actions are recommended for each of the potential delivery mechanisms: 

Extending 1,000 new homes programme 

Action: Review procurement 

Action: Review development management 

Action: Review programme appraisal methodology 

Action: Establish approach to sales risk 

59



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 39 of 43 Savills 

Action: Establish a framework for evaluating the performance of existing assets 

Work in partnership with RPs 

Action: One to ones with senior representatives from Council and RPs to explore opportunities 

Council retains S106 opportunities 

Action: One to one discussions with developers/house builders 

Joint ventures 

Action: Development of Council’s approach/consideration of alternative models 

Action: Soft market testing with developers 

Land redesignation and intensification 

Action: Further work on land capacity and opportunities 

Action: Proactive approach to planning and regulatory powers within strategic masterplanning 

framework 

Workstream 7: Evaluation and development of potential delivery mechanisms 

6.4.1. Alternative structures to facilitate funding of new Council housing 

 Appraisal of alternative options as set out in this paper and a recommendation to 

structure funding in a way that allows expansion of the programme without breaching 

HRA debt cap  

 A decision on the legal form of any Council Vehicle established and whether the council 

should be the sole shareholder, directors, key business activities and the principles of its 

operational relationship with the council  

 Development of management model for new housing 

 Development of outline business case setting out high level funding requirements and 

deliverables.  A detailed business plan would then need to be developed involving site 

specific proposals as these are identified and agreed. 

 Appraisal of funding options 

Workstream 8: Funding strategy for new Council housing 

 

 

 

 

60



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 40 of 43 Savills 

7. Conclusion 

This report builds on the first phase report on Housing Stock Options appraisal to focus on 

Council plans to develop 11,000 new homes. 

Savills has revisited the HRA business plan assumptions used in the first phase report in order to 

incorporate the impact of emerging risk factors, including government changes to rent policy, in 

order to confirm a realistic and prudent projection of financial capacity within the HRA. 

This illustrates that while the HRA is forecast to have sufficient resources to meet the needs of the 

current stock over the next 30 years, it is prudent to maintain current headroom below the debt 

cap in order to deal with potential liabilities in the medium term.  As such it would not be prudent 

to rely on additional resources from the HRA to provide funding for new build development. 

In developing a high level investment plan for an additional 10,000 new homes Savills has first 

looked at the financial plans relating to the initial 1,000 new homes programme.  This is largely 

funded by contributions from the Council’s Affordable Housing Fund, generated through the 

receipt of in lieu payments for affordable housing as well as Right to Buy receipts.   

An expanded programme would entail estimated build costs of £2.4bn (taking into account 

inflation over the 30 year investment plan period).  Direct delivery would be very capital hungry 

and the Council would need to take into account  

 Cross subsidy from an expanded programme that includes market sales and intermediate 

homes 

 Access to finance funded from future rental income. 

Both of these factors could significantly reduce the capital funding required from other sources 

such as the Affordable Housing Fund. 

In considering the financing requirement to be met by the Council it is important to  consider how 

financing can be accessed in a way that does not impact on HRA capital finance requirement and 

at a scale that can be contained within the Council’s overall prudential limits.   

In view of the overall scale of funding required, it is unlikely that the entire debt requirement could 

be met through Council borrowing.  To reduce the funding requirement, additional subsidy or 

external funding would be required. 

As well as considering the funding requirement, the report has also considered the available land 

supply.  Recent capacity studies show a clear and transparent projection of land supply.  However  

a key factor will be the actions required by the Council to access each of the opportunities 

identified.  This will be the critical factor in land availability to deliver the Council’s ambitions.  

The report sets out a variety of potential delivery mechanisms which will need to be explored in 

order to access the scale of opportunities required to deliver a programme of this scale.  In order 

to ensure the Council can take maximum advantage of the range of potential delivery 

mechanisms, it will need to set proactive plans to access these opportunities and drive value.   

Active management of the Council’s existing HRA assets will also be required to maximise 

opportunities across the existing HRA portfolio. 

61



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 41 of 43 Savills 

The funding of new Council housing directly in the HRA is significantly constrained by the HRA 

debt cap.  However there are alternative structures that exist, and which many councils are now 

developing, in order to facilitate the funding of new council housing.  This involves the 

establishment of a Council Vehicle to hold the long term interest in the housing.  The 

establishment of a Council Vehicle for new housing also holds other advantages in terms of 

commercial accountability and flexibility suitable to the development process.  There are various 

legal and financial implications associated with the establishment of a Council Vehicle for the 

development of new housing that would need to be considered as part of the development of an 

outline business case for the proposals if adopted. 

Management models for new housing, whether funding is structured in a Council Vehicle or 

directly in the HRA, can be developed in line with Council proposals to develop management 

models for its existing stock and actions to promote increased tenant management. 

The report highlights the sorts of actions that may be required by the Council in order access the 

development opportunities in the borough and enable a significant increase in delivery capacity 

from 1,000 to 11,000 new homes.  In reality delivery capacity is likely to need to be even larger, in 

order to ensure mixed communities, and to provide a level of cross subsidy from market sales. 

Systems will need to be in place to ensure a step change in delivery capacity which may mean 

more than building up existing structures and operations, given the level of increased capacity 

required. 

A delivery framework is proposed that provides for a single point of co-ordination of multiple 

project streams.  Suggested next steps are set out to enable the Council to move forward in 

building the development strategy over the next 6 – 12 months.   

The Council will continue to evaluate new and emerging models of delivery which may assist in 

meeting its objectives for housing investment and new build provision. 

 

 

 

62



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 42 of 43 Savills 

8. Appendix A: Housing Market Report

63



 

New Homes Housing Investment Plan Page 43 of 43 Savills 

9. Appendix B: Examples of Council vehicles established for the purpose of 

housing development 

Ealing 

In the light of the HRA self-financing reforms, the London Borough of Ealing has identified that there 

are a number of alternative delivery options that can be considered to support the council’s housing 

development and regeneration objectives.  Following an analysis of legal and financial issues, the 

principle of establishing a council owned company has now been approved and the detailed business 

case is being developed for cabinet consideration.  The intention is that the council company would 

initially support the Copley Close estate regeneration project, by developing new rented properties 

outside the HRA debt cap, and that it would then be available to use for subsequent projects. 

 

Ashford 
Earlier this year, Ashford Council approved the creation of two wholly owned Local Authority 

Companies – a Property Company and also a Building Consultancy Company.  The creation of the 

property company is intended to support the development of new housing in the borough, using a 

variety of tenures, ranging from social rents, intermediate rents and market rents through to outright 

sale, where it might best suit that community and sale values will assist in providing funding to enable 

more development.  Approval took account of detailed consideration of legal, governance and funding 

issues. 

 

Thurrock 
Earlier this year, Thurrock Council approved in principle a proposal to establish a wholly owned 

housing company to assist in the delivery of the council’s housing development and regeneration 

objectives.  It is expected that the company will help deliver the council’s target of 1,000 new 

affordable homes and support the broader housing regeneration activity.  A key factor in the decision 

to establish a separate council company is that it would enable council control of development outside 

the restrictions of the HRA debt cap. 

 

Woking 
Woking Borough Council owns and funds a group of companies, which were formed to assist the 

council in delivery of a number of key objectives, including decent and affordable housing and 

economic development.  Thameswey Housing Limited provides affordable housing within the borough 

and Thameswey Developments Limited is a property developer, developing both commercial and 

residential schemes to further the Council’s ambitions.  Whilst the original council company was set 

up in 1999 to address energy and environmental objectives, it was broadened out in 2010 to address 

housing objectives 

64





 
 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MUNICIPAL YEAR 2014-15 
 
AGENDA DISTRIBUTION LIST (OPEN) 
 
NOTE: Original held by Scrutiny Team; all amendments/queries to Peter Roberts Tel: 020 7525 4350 
 

 
Name No of 

copies 
Name No of 

copies 
 
OSC Members 
 
Councillor Gavin Edwards (Chair) 
Councillor Rosie Shimell (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Anood Al-Samerai 
Councillor Jasmine Ali 
Councillor Catherine Dale 
Councillor Karl Eastham 
Councillor Tom Flynn 
Councillor Rebecca Lury 
Councillor Claire Maugham 
Councillor Adele Morris 
Councillor Johnson Situ 
 
Reserves 
 
Councillor Evelyn Akoto 
Councillor Maisie Anderson 
Councillor James Barber 
Councillor Dan Garfield 
Councillor Jon Hartley 
Councillor Hamish McCallum 
Councillor David Noakes 
Councillor Martin Seaton 
Councillor Bill Williams 
Councillor Kieron Williams 
(Vacancy) 
 
 
Education Representatives 
 
Revd Nicholas Elder 
Lynette Murphy-O’Dwyer 
Abdul Raheem Musa 
(Vacancy) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
 
 
 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
 
 
 
 
 
1 
1 
1 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Council Officers 
 
Eleanor Kelly, Chief Executive 
Shelley Burke, Head of Overview & 
Scrutiny 
Norman Coombe, Legal Services 
Aine Gallagher, Political Assistant 
Tom Layfield, Opposition Assistant 
 
Scrutiny Team SPARES 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Total: 39 
 
 
 
Dated: June 2014 
 

 
 
 
1 
1 
 
1 
1 
1 
 
10 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes
	Draft Minutes 6 May 2014
	Minutes


	5 Scrutiny Arrangements for 2014/15
	6 Work Programme 2014/15
	Appendix 1: New Homes Investment Plans

	 

